
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	

Entry 1 School Information and Cover Page 

(New schools that were not open for instruction for 

the 2018-19 school year are not required to complete 

or submit an annual report this year). 
Created: 06/25/2019 • Last updated: 07/31/2019 

Please be advised that you will need to complete this cover page (including signatures) before all of the 

other tasks assigned to you by your authorizer are visible on your task page. While completing this cover 
page task, please ensure that you select the correct authorizer (as of June 30, 2019) or you may not be 

assigned the correct tasks. 

BASIC INFORMATION 

a. SCHOOL NAME 

(Select name from the drop down menu) 

a1. Popular School Name 

(Optional) 

b. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of 
June 30th, 2019) 

Please select the correct authorizer as of 
June 30, 2019 or you may not be 

assigned the correct tasks. 

c. DISTRICT / CSD OF LOCATION 

d. DATE OF INITIAL CHARTER 

e. DATE FIRST OPENED FOR 

INSTRUCTION 

h. SCHOOL WEB ADDRESS (URL) 

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

(No response) 

SUNY Authorized Charter School 

NYC CSD 10 

10/2014 

08/2015 

https://www.atmosphereacademy.org/ 
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i. TOTAL MAX APPROVED 410 

ENROLLMENT FOR THE 2018-19 

SCHOOL YEAR (exclude Pre-K 

program enrollment) 

j. TOTAL STUDENT ENROLLMENT 416 

ON JUNE 30, 2019 (exclude Pre-K 

program enrollment) 

k. GRADES SERVED IN SCHOOL YEAR 2018-19 (does not include Pre-K program 

students) 
Check all that apply 

Grades Served 6, 7, 8 

l1. DOES THE SCHOOL CONTRACT No 

WITH A CHARTER OR 

EDUCATIONAL MANAGEMENT 

ORGANIZATION? 

FACILITIES INFORMATION 

m. FACILITIES 

Will the school maintain or operate multiple sites in 2019-20? 

Yes, 3 sites 

School Site 1 (Primary) 

2 / 8 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	
	 	

	
	

	 	
	 	

	 	
	

	
	 	

	
	

	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	

	

	

	

	

	

	 	

m1. SCHOOL SITES 

Please provide information on Site 1 for the upcoming school year. 

Physical Address Phone Number District/CSD Grades to be Receives Rental 
Served at Site Assistance for 

22 Marble Hill 
Site 1 Avenue, Bronx, 

NY 10463 
NYC CSD 10 6 

m1a. Please provide the contact information for Site 1. 

School 
Leader 

Operati
onal 
Leader 

Complia 
nce 
Contact 

Complai 
nt 
Contact 

DASA 
Coordin 
ator 

Phone 
Contact 
for After 
Hours 
Emerge
ncies 

Name 

Colin Greene 

Colin Greene 

Camila Gonzalez 

Christian Roman 

Colin Greene 

m1b. Is site 1 in public (co-
located) space or in private 

space? 

Work Phone 

Private Space 

for coming year Which Grades (If
(K 5, 6 9, etc.) yes, enter the

Alternate Phone 

appropriate
grades. If no,
enter No). 

6 

Email Address 

Camila Gonzalez 
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IF LOCATED IN PRIVATE SPACE IN NYC OR IN DISTRICTS OUTSIDE NYC 

m1d. Upload a current Certificate of Occupancy (COO) and the annual Fire Inspection 

Report for school site 1 if located in private space in NYC or located outside of NYC . 

Site 1 Certificate of Occupancy (COO) 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/89982981/yFPTXS6fVy/ 

Site 1 Fire Inspection Report 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/89982981/nBJtmqxAKU/ 

School Site 2 

m2. SCHOOL SITES 

Please provide information on Site 2 for the upcoming school year. 

Physical Address 

5959 Broadway,Site 2 Bronx, NY 10463 

Phone Number District/CSD 

NYC CSD 10 

Grades to be Receives Rental 
Served at Site Assistance for 
for coming year Which Grades (If
(K 5, 6 9, etc.) yes, enter the

appropriate
grades. If no,
enter No). 

7 7 
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m2a. Please provide the contact information for Site 2. 

School 
Leader 

Operati
onal 
Leader 

Complia 
nce 
Contact 

Complai 
nt 
Contact 

DASA 
Coordin 
ator 

Phone 
Contact 
for After 
Hours 
Emerge
ncies 

Name 

Colin Greene 

Camila Gonzalez 

Colin Greene 

Camila Gonzalez 

Christian Roman 

Colin Greene 

m2b. Is site 2 in public (co-
located) space or in private 

space? 

Work Phone 

Private Space 

Alternate Phone Email Address 

IF LOCATED IN PRIVATE SPACE IN NYC OR IN DISTRICTS OUTSIDE NYC 

m2d. Upload a current Certificate of Occupancy (COO) and the annual Fire Inspection 

Report for school site 2 if located in private space in NYC or located outside of NYC . 

Site 2 Certificate of Occupancy (COO) 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/89982981/s65IeHxlLr/ 

Site 2 Fire Inspection Report 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/89982981/bZoeZBX06f/ 

School Site 3 
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m3. SCHOOL SITES 

Please provide information on site 3 for the upcoming school year. 

Physical Address Phone Number District/CSD Grades to be Receives Rental 
Served at Site Assistance for 

3700 
IndependenceSite 3 Ave, Bronx, NY 
10463 

m3a. Please provide the contact information for Site 3. 

School 
Leader 

Operati
onal 
Leader 

Complia 
nce 
Contact 

Complai 
nt 
Contact 

DASA 
Coordin 
ator 

Phone 
Contact 
for After 
Hours 
Emerge
ncies 

Name 

Colin Greene 

Colin Greene 

Camila Gonzalez 

Christian Roman 

Colin Greene 

Work Phone 

for coming year Which Grades (If
(K 5, 6 9, etc.) yes, enter the

NYC CSD 10 8 

Alternate Phone 

appropriate
grades. If no,
enter No). 

8 

Email Address 

Camila Gonzalez 

m3b. Is site 3 in public (co- Private Space 

located) space or in private 

space? 
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IF LOCATED IN PRIVATE SPACE IN NYC OR IN DISTRICTS OUTSIDE NYC 

m3d. Upload a current Certificate of Occupancy (COO) and the annual Fire Inspection 

Report for school site 3 if located in private space in NYC or located outside of NYC . 

Site 3 Certificate of Occupancy (COO) 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/89982981/grgnexJqqo/ 

Site 3 Fire Inspection Report 

https://nysed cso reports.fluidreview.com/resp/89982981/kTf19ow766/ 

CHARTER REVISIONS DURING THE 2018-19 SCHOOL YEAR 

n1. Were there any revisions to No 

the school’s charter during the 

2018-19 school year? (Please 

include approved or pending 

material and non-material 
charter revisions). 

ATTESTATION 

o. Individual Primarily Responsible for Submitting the Annual Report. 

Name Colin Greene 

Position Principal 

Phone/Extension 

Email 
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p. Our signatures (Executive Director/School Leader/Head of School and Board 

President) below attest that all of the information contained herein is truthful and 

accurate and that this charter school is in compliance with all aspects of its charter, 
and with all pertinent Federal, State, and local laws, regulations, and rules. We 

understand that if any information in any part of this report is found to have been 

deliberately misrepresented, that will constitute grounds for the revocation of our 

charter. Check YES if you agree and then use the mouse on your PC or the stylist on 

your mobile device to sign your name). 

No Responses Selected 

Signature, Head of Charter School 

Signature, President of the Board of Trustees 

Date 2019/07/30 

Thank you. 

8 / 8 





        

  
 

       
     

 

  

  

 

 

  

Page 1 of 2 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number: 220596914F     

This certifies  that the premises described herein  conforms  substantially  to  the  approved plans and specifications and to the 
requirements of all applicable laws, rules and regulations for the uses and occupancies specified.  No change of use or occupancy 
shall be made unless a new Certificate of Occupancy is issued. This document  or a copy shall be available for inspection at  the 
building at all reasonable times. 

A. 

B. 

C. 

D. 

E. 

Borough: Bronx 

3700 INDEPENDENCE AVE Address: 

Building Identification Number (BIN): 2085776 

Block Number: 05903 

Lot Number(s): 299 

Building Type: 
Altered 

Certificate Type: Final 

Effective Date: 06/28/2018 

This building is subject to this Building Code:  1968 Code 

For zoning lot metes & bounds, please see BISWeb. 

Construction classification: 1-B (1968 Code designation) 

Building Occupancy Group classification: E (2014/2008 Code) 

Multiple Dwelling Law Classification: None 

No. of stories: 3 Height in feet: 30  No. of dwelling units: 1 

Fire Protection Equipment: 
Fire alarm system, Sprinkler system 

Type and number of open spaces: 
None associated with this filing. 

This Certificate is issued with the following legal limitations: 
None 

Borough Comments: None 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

 

           

 

                            
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

   
   

Page 2 of 2 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number: 220596914F     

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq. ft. 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

NOTE: HIGH HOLIDAYS - CELLAR AND BASEMENT - 350 PERSONS MAX. CAPACITY FOR CELLAR & BASEMENT FOR RELIGIOUS 
PURPOSE. CLASSROOMS NOT TO BE OCCUPIED CONJ UNCTIVELY WITH SOCIAL HALL AND GYMNASIUM FIRE DEPARTMENT 
APPROVAL FOR FIRE ALARM SYSTEM. 

END OF SECTION 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

END OF DOCUMENT 220596914/000 6/28/2018 2:37:34 PM 









        

  
 

       
     

 

  

  

 

 

  

Page 1 of 3 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number: 220349193F     

This certifies  that the premises described herein  conforms  substantially  to  the  approved plans and specifications and to the 
requirements of all applicable laws, rules and regulations for the uses and occupancies specified.  No change of use or occupancy 
shall be made unless a new Certificate of Occupancy is issued. This document  or a copy shall be available for inspection at  the 
building at all reasonable times. 

A. 

B. 

C. 

D. 

E. 

Borough: Bronx 

5959 BROADWAY Address: 

Building Identification Number (BIN): 2124471 

Block Number: 05776 

Lot Number(s): 621 

Building Type: 
New 

Certificate Type: Final 

Effective Date: 04/18/2019 

This building is subject to this Building Code:  2008 Code 

For zoning lot metes & bounds, please see BISWeb. 

Construction classification: 2-A (2014/2008 Code) 

Building Occupancy Group classification: R-2 (2014/2008 Code) 

Multiple Dwelling Law Classification: HAEA 

No. of stories: 6 Height in feet: 58  No. of dwelling units: 72 

Fire Protection Equipment: 
Standpipe system, Fire alarm system, Sprinkler system 

Type and number of open spaces: 
None associated with this filing. 

This Certificate is issued with the following legal limitations: 
None 

Borough Comments: None 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

 

           

 

                            
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

Page 2 of 3 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number: 220349193F     

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
From To 

Maximum 
persons 
permitted 

Live load 
lbs per 
sq  ft  

Building 
Code 
occupancy 
group 

Dwelling or 
Rooming 
Units 

Zoning 
use group Description of use 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

DOCUMENT CONTINUES ON NEXT PAGE 



               
      

 

           

 

                            
        

 
 

 

                                                                 
                                                                 
                                                            

 

   
    

 

Page 3 of 3 

Certificate of Occupancy 
CO Number: 220349193F     

Permissible Use and Occupancy 
All Building Code occupancy group designations below are 2008 designations. 

Floor 
Maximum 
persons 

Live load 
lbs per 

Building 
Code 
occupancy 

Dwelling or 
Rooming Zoning 

NOTE: EXTERIOR RECREATION AREA. ZONING EXHIBITS I AND III FILED UNDER CRFN# 2013000239846 AND 2013000239847 
RESPECTIVELY. THIS CO SHALL ALSO BE CONSIDE RED A CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE UNDER SECTION 301 OF MDL. THE 
BUILDING IS D ESIGNED PURSUANT TO OPTIONAL QUALITY HOUSING. 

END OF SECTION 

Borough Commissioner Commissioner 

END OF DOCUMENT 220349193/000 4/18/2019 4:54:48 PM 







	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	

Entry 2 NYS School Report Card Link 
Last updated: 07/15/2019 

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

1. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of 
June 30th, 2019) 

(For technical reasons, please re select 
authorizer name from the drop down 

menu). 

2. NEW YORK STATE REPORT 

CARD 

Provide a direct URL or web link 

to the most recent New York 

State School Report Card for the 

charter school (See 

https://reportcards.nysed.gov/). 

(Charter schools completing year 
one will not yet have a School 
Report Card or link to one. Please 

type "URL is not available" in the 

space provided.) 

SUNY Authorized Charter School 

https://data.nysed.gov/essa.php? 

instid=800000083985&year=2018&createreport=1&allchecke 

d=1&OverallStatus=1&section_1003=1&EMindicators=1&EMc 

omposite=1&EMgrowth=1&EMcompgrowth=1&EMelp=1&EMp 

rogress=1&EMchronic=1&EMpart=1&HSindicators=1&HSchro 

nic=1&staffqual=1&expend=1&38ELA=1&38MATH=1&48SCI= 

1&regents=1&nyseslat=1&nysaa=1&feddata=1 

1 / 1 



    

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

   

 

  

 
 

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

Atmosphere Academy Public 
Charter School 

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN 
PROGRESS REPORT 

Submitted to the SUNY Charter Schools Institute on: 

September 12, 2019 

By Colin Greene 

22 Marble Hill 
Bronx, NY 10463 



    

   
 

 

 

 

  
  

   
  
  

   
 

 

 

    

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

Colin Greene, Founder and Principal, prepared this 2018-19 Accountability Progress Report on 
behalf of the school’s board of trustees: 

Trustee’s Name Board Position 
Dr. Michael Lagas, Ed.D. Chair 

Jesse J. Greene, Esq. Secretary 
Mervin Burton Treasurer 

Alan Dillon, Esq. Trustee 
M. James Spitzer, Esq. Trustee 

Colin Greene has served as the Principal since January 1, 2015. 



    

  

     
  

   
    

 
 

 
  

 
  

 
 
 

 
   

  
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 
 

 
  

 

 
  

 
 

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School opened its doors for its first year of operation on 
August 25, 2016 serving 140 students in 6th Grade from NYC CSD 10 and surrounding 
neighborhoods. In 2018-19, the school served 416 6th-8th grade students.   Of these students, 20% 
were students with IEP’s, 13% were English Language Learners, and 92% were from economically 
disadvantaged families. The students were primarily Hispanic/Latino (78.4%) and African-American 
(17.8%). The remaining students were Asian (1.2%), White (2%), Multiracial (0.3%) and American 
Indian (0.3%).  

Through the creation of a highly engaging school setting, Atmosphere strives to not only prepare 
students to be ready for college, career, and life, but to succeed once they get there.  By actively 
contributing to the school’s shared learning community, Atmosphere students will acquire the 
character, skills, and knowledge they need to think, collaborate, and lead. 

In order to build an engaged and self-directed community of stakeholders, many elements of the 
school model focus on empowering students to take ownership of the learning process, involving 
parents in their children’s education, and helping faculty and staff continuously improve their 
professional practice. Further reflecting this foundational belief, Atmosphere Academy has 
adopted the following key design elements that allow the school to accomplish its mission and 
remain true to its vision: 

● School Culture: The school has created an atmosphere that is supportive, innovative, 
collaborative, inspired, inspiring and rigorous. 

● Rigorous and Diverse Course Offerings: All students take core courses that include three 
humanities courses (English, English Lab and Social Studies) and four STEM courses (Math, 
Math Lab, Algebra 1, and Science). In addition to these core courses, students attend an 
Achievement class that prepared them for assessments (3 days per week).  Students also 
participate in an Advisory course, which focuses on building life skills, study skills, and 21st 
century skills (1 days per week).  Additionally, students took elective mini-courses (1 day per 
week with a quarterly rotation), physical education courses (2 days per week), and health 
courses (1 day per week). 

● Extended School Day and School Year: In order to provide the time needed for students to 
take advantage of all of these unique learning opportunities without cannibalizing core 
courses to make room for them, Atmosphere employs an extended school day (7:30 am to 
4:00 pm), school year (190-day school year), and afterschool achievement classes twice per 
week until 5:30. 

● 21st Century Learning: Atmosphere students are further prepared for success in college and 
career through the development of 21st century skills. To this end, all of Atmosphere’s 
classes incorporate practices, assignments, routines, and other structures that ask students 
to develop 21st century skills, including Creative and Critical Thinking; Innovation and 
Entrepreneurship; Collaboration and Leadership; Digital Literacy; and College, Career and 
Life Skills. 



    

  
 

  
 

   

 
 

  

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
  
 

 
  

   
  

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
     

 
   

 
    

 
  

  
   

 
 

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

● Key Partners and Supporters: Atmosphere enjoys close working relationships with the 
following organizations (among others): Westmoreland Sanctuary; Westchester Land Trust; 
and Westhab. 

● Student-Centered and Differentiated Instruction: Atmosphere’s instructional philosophy 
aligns most closely with the Gradual Release of Responsibility (GRR) approach. GRR reflects 
the importance Atmosphere places on student-led exploration and discovery throughout 
the proposed school. Atmosphere’s instructional philosophy is also informed by the 
Sheltered Instruction and Observation Protocol (SIOP) model. The decision to use SIOP was 
made because it incorporates GRR principles, directly addresses the needs of Atmosphere’s 
ELL population, and provides a broad and sound base of pedagogical practice. Within the 
SIOP model, GRR is often referred to as the “gradual increase in student responsibility.” 

● Special Education Program: Atmosphere offers general education classes, integrated co-
teaching (ICT) classes, and self-contained classes that serve students with a range of needs. 
The self-contained classes are taught by a Learning Specialist and a Teaching Assistant 
present at all times. The ICT classes include a content area teacher during all classes and a 
Learning Specialist during math, English instruction, Science and Social Studies.  Academic 
Intervention Services (AIS) provide additional academic support during lunch, electives and 
after school. 

● English Language Learner Program: English language learners (ELLs) receive additional 
support through instruction from ELL Specialists that is provided during the electives period. 
This structure allows for an additional 100 minutes of targeted intervention per week. 
Additional intervention time is achieved by pulling students out of Technology class or 
Spanish class on an as needed basis. 

● Core Values: All of Atmosphere’s stakeholder groups are expected to follow a set of shared 
core values that help the proposed school realize its mission and vision. Focused on Mindful 
Leadership, the core values will encourage our students to be: 

o Persistent – Atmosphere students will be supported to continue firmly in a course of 
action despite difficulty or opposition. 

o Curious – Atmosphere students are expected to be eager to know and learn new 
things in and out of the classroom. 

o Collaborative – Atmosphere students will work with other students and groups to 
achieve excellence. 

o Ethical – Atmosphere students will be encouraged to be concerned with right and 
wrong of human character 

o Reflective – Atmosphere students will gain a better grasp of their own identity 
through prescribed investigation of the stories and histories that define who they 
are. 



    

    
 

 
    

 
 

     
 

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
   

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
               

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

o Multicultural – Atmosphere students will be exposed to and gain an intimate 
understanding of and appreciation for their own cultures as well as various other 
cultures both locally and internationally 

o Empathetic – Atmosphere students will learn to leverage peer dynamics and the 
nested learning that occurs in social circles in order to enhance their academic 
outcomes. 

o Civic – Atmosphere students will gain greater insight into the structure of the 
socioeconomic ladder and the tangible steps that most often result in upward 
movement. 

● Rapid Response to Intervention: Atmosphere’s Rapid Response to Intervention (RRTI) 
system is driven and accelerated by data that help faculty, staff, and school leaders provide 
targeted and timely academic and behavioral interventions. The goal is to provide such 
services to the students who most need them and in a time frame that makes those 
interventions most effective. Atmosphere provides a range of interventions that include 
emotional, social, behavioral, psychological, physical, intellectual, and academic support 
and security. 

● Restorative Justice: Atmosphere’s discipline system and policies are rooted in the principles 
of restorative justice. This philosophy sees behavioral infractions as injurious to the larger 
school community and seeks to repair them through interventions that involve all relevant 
stakeholders (students, parents, teachers, and administrators). 

● Data Driven Decision Making: Atmosphere sees real-time data acquisition, warehousing, 
interpretation, and visualization as the fuel that drives good decision making. Therefore, 
Atmosphere implements strong data systems throughout the school (curriculum, 
assessment, discipline, etc.) that provide staff, students, and parents with actionable 
results. 

● Distributed Leadership: To increase organizational capacity, Atmosphere has based its 
instructional leadership structure on a distributed leadership model. 

● Governance: Atmosphere is governed by a strong, experienced Board of Trustees that 
provides scrupulous oversight without micromanaging the organization. The Board sets 
goals for the proposed school and leadership team that align with the Accountability Plan 
established in the proposed charter application and expect regular reports of academic, 
financial and organizational data with which to monitor progress towards goals and 
achievement of the proposed school’s mission. 

School Enrollment by Grade Level and School Year 
School K 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 Total 





    

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

  
  
  
  

 
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
   

  
   

 

    
 

 
 

  
    

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

Moreover, Atmosphere seeks to increase the sophistication and rigor of its ELA curriculum beyond 
what is mandated by state standards. In this manner, Atmosphere’s ELA courses not only strive to 
increase student fluency and facility with reading and writing a variety of texts that span multiple 
genres and levels of sophistication, but to also engage students in the generation of original work 
product that is intended for purposeful publication both within the school and the larger 
community. Student engagement is maximized by infusing the acquisition of reading, writing, 
listening, speaking, and language skills with direction and intention. Students are asked to 
ameliorate deficits and master new skills in order to share their story, engage in the ideation 
process, and change outcomes. 

In order to realize this goal, Atmosphere uses an ELA program that is comprised of research-based 
curricular choices as well as instructional methods that have been shown to be effective for middle 
school literacy development. 

The English course is designed to improve scholars’ ability to effectively read and interpret texts 
that span a range of Lexile levels and genres. In accordance with the New York State Next 
Generation Learning Standards, the content is a mix of fiction and literary texts as well as nonfiction 
and informational texts. Specific reading domain standards addressed include: 

● Key ideas and details 
● Craft and structure 
● Integration of knowledge and ideas 
● Range of reading and level of text complexity 

These standards are addressed by providing instruction in and opportunities for: 
● Close reading and annotation 
● Content comprehension and understanding 
● Background knowledge and context 
● Literary analysis 
● Information interpretation and inference 
● Reader response and discussion 
● Vocabulary (drawing meaning from context and putting meaning in context) 

The English lab courses are assigned by section to address students’ needs. The Remediation Lab 
serves students who are not proficient. Here, READ180 is utilized to assess areas of weakness and 
provide targeted instruction in deficit areas. The Enrichment Lab serves students who are at or 
above proficiency. These Honors scholars are presented the College Board’s Pre-AP Springboard 
framework to facilitate further advancement. Our goal is for scholars successfully completing this 
course to be adequately prepared to challenge themselves by enrolling in AP courses in high school. 

Goal 1: Absolute Measure 

Each year, 75 percent of all tested students enrolled in at least their second year will perform at or 
above proficiency on the New York State English language arts examination for grades 3-8.  

















    

   
 

  
 

   
 

 
  

  
  

  
  

 
 

  
    

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

   
 

 

  
 

    
   

 
 

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

● Atmosphere was the highest performing school with 20%+ students with disabilities and 
10%+ ELLs in the comparison group. 

● Atmosphere was tied as the highest performing school with 90%+ Black/Hispanic students 
and 90%+ economically disadvantaged students in the comparison group. 

● Atmosphere was the highest performing 6-8 or 5-8 school in the comparison group. All the 
schools that outperformed Atmosphere were K-8 schools with a 6-year head start and 
advantage. 

● Atmosphere had the most students tested by far in grades 6-8 in the comparison group. This 
is significant in that Atmosphere has very low attrition between 6th grade and 8th grade 
(from 2018-2019 to 2019-2020, Atmosphere retained over 95% of its rising 7th and 8th 
graders) whereas the K-8 schools see significant student attrition from kindergarten to 6th 
grade. For example, per NYSED data, Success Academy Bronx 2 had 90 students in 3rd grade 
in 2015-2016. Three years later, that same cohort had only 60 students in 6th grade in 2018-
2019. This is a 33% decrease in students over time. Similar trends can be found with other 
K-8 charter schools in the comparison group. By contrast, Atmosphere has maintained a 
consistent cohort enrollment through strong retention of students and backfilling of seats as 
needed. 

● Some of the highest performing charter schools on the list are not serving the same 
demographic groups as Atmosphere. Both Brooklyn Prospect CSD 13 and Renaissance have 
Black/Hispanic populations under 60% and 70% respectively (Atmosphere is over 95% 
Black/Hispanic). Moreover, they also have economically disadvantaged populations under 
50% and 70% respectively (Atmosphere is over 90% economically disadvantaged). Finally, 
the majority of the schools on the list (including almost all of those scoring above 
Atmosphere and many of those scoring below Atmosphere) have ELL and disability 
populations far below Atmosphere’s. In fact, some have 0% ELLs and fewer than 15% 
disabled students. 

● Atmosphere’s 5% growth rate in English proficiency in grades 6-8 year-over-year was second 
among all schools in the comparison group. In fact, Atmosphere was 1 of only 5 schools that 
had any growth from 2017-2018 to 2018-2019, with 6 schools declining significantly, 
evidencing the significance of Atmosphere’s improved performance on a 2018-2019 test 
that was even more rigorous and challenging. 

A closer look at the English performance of Atmosphere’s special populations shows that they 
outperformed the special populations of the local district and Atmosphere’s closest peer charter 
school despite the fact that both start in kindergarten whereas Atmosphere starts in 6th grade. 
Below is a comparison of Atmosphere to Bronx District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School 
(BCCS). 
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In terms of overall English proficiency, Atmosphere outperformed the district by 10 points and BCCS 
by 3 points. Atmosphere also had the fewest Level 1 students and the highest number of Level 3 
students and Level 4 students as compared to the district and BCCS. 

However, when this data is disaggregated by demographic sub-groups, the strong performance of 
Atmosphere’s special populations also comes into focus. Below is a comparison of how 
Atmosphere’s Black and Hispanic students performed in English in 2019 as compared with Bronx 
District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School. 
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Atmosphere’s Black and Hispanic students outperformed both BCCS and Bronx District 10. 

Below is a comparison of how Atmosphere’s English Language Learners performed in English in 
2019 as compared with Bronx District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School. 

Atmosphere’s ELLs outperformed ELLs at both BCCS and Bronx District 10 by almost quadrupling the 
district and exceeding BCCS by an even wider margin. This speaks to the superior quality of the 
English instruction in Atmosphere’s ELL Program. 

Below is a comparison of how Atmosphere’s Students with Disabilities (SWD) performed in English 
in 2019 as compared with Bronx District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School. 

Atmosphere’s SWD almost doubled the proficiency rate of both BCCS and the district. This speaks to 
the superior quality of Atmosphere’s Special Education Program. 

Below is a comparison of how Atmosphere’s Economically Disadvantaged (ED) students performed 
in English in 2019 as compared with Bronx District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School. 



    

 
 

 
  

 

 

 
   

 

 
      

 
  

  

 
 

 
      

   
   

    

  
    

  
     

   
  

    

 

2018-19 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

Atmosphere’s ED students outperformed both their peers in the district and at BCCS. This speaks to 
the superior quality of Atmosphere’s Intervention Program and overall Academic Program. 

Goal 1: Comparative Measure 

Each year, the school will exceed its predicted level of performance on the state English language 
arts exam by an effect size of 0.3 or above (performing higher than expected to a meaningful 
degree) according to a regression analysis controlling for economically disadvantaged students 
among all public schools in New York State. 

METHOD 
The SUNY Charter Schools Institute (“Institute”) conducts a comparative performance analysis, 
which compares the school’s performance to that of demographically similar public schools 
statewide.  The Institute uses a regression analysis to control for the percentage of economically 
disadvantaged students among all public schools in New York State.   The Institute compares the 
school’s actual performance to the predicted performance of public schools with a similar 
concentration of economically disadvantaged students.  The difference between the school’s actual 
and predicted performance, relative to other schools with similar economically disadvantaged 
statistics, produces an Effect Size.  An Effect Size of 0.3, or performing higher than expected to a 
meaningful degree, is the requirement for achieving this measure. 

Given the timing of the state’s release of economically disadvantaged data and the demands of the 
data analysis, the 2018-19 analysis is not yet available. This report contains 2017-18 results, the 
most recent Comparative Performance Analysis available. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 
Atmosphere Academy achieved a 0.34 Effect Size for the 2017-18 school year, slightly exceeding the 
Effect Size of 0.30 required to achieve this measure.  The percent of 6th Grade students reaching 
proficiency was 42.4 percentage points above the prediction of 33.3, and the percent of 7th Grade 
students reaching proficiency was 3.9 percentage points above the prediction of 26.2.  The 8th 

Grade students, however, far exceeded the prediction of 37.1 by 12.9 percentage points.  The Effect 
Size for 2017-18 was a huge increase from the Effect Size of -0.19 in 2016-17. 
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Comparative 

Each year, the percent of all tested students who are enrolled in at least 
their second year and performing at proficiency on the state English 
language arts exam will be greater than that of students in the same tested 
grades in the school district of comparison. 

Achieved 

Comparative 

Each year, the school will exceed its predicted level of performance on the 
state English language arts exam by an effect size of 0.3 or above 
(performing higher than expected to a meaningful degree) according to a 
regression analysis controlling for economically disadvantaged students 
among all public schools in New York State. (Using 2017-18 results.) 

Achieved 

Growth 
Each year, under the state’s Growth Model the school’s mean unadjusted 
growth percentile in English language arts for all tested students in grades 
4-8 will be above the target of 50. (Using 2017-18 results.) 

Achieved 

ACTION PLAN 
Atmosphere Academy’s Leadership Team have continued to make key improvements to the 
academic program to foster increased student achievement in the upcoming years. These changes 
are focused on continued professional development of highly qualified practitioners, a consistent 
use of data and achievement systems to target and remediate student deficiencies, strategic 
reallocation of staffing to better support students, increased expectations of both students and 
staff, and continued tight supervision and evaluation of teachers. 

● Highly Effective Teachers 

o Staff Selection- In addition to systems previously put in place, the leadership team 
closely evaluated staff performance data to determine who would be invited to 
return for the 2019 - 2020 academic year. Staff was evaluated using a portfolio 
based model that measured performance against a customized rubric created by the 
school that incorporates school values and systems with the Charlotte Danielson 
framework. Some staff members that were invited to return were given assignments 
that better suited their areas of strength as well as the needs of the students. The 
recruitment and hiring of the staff continues to be a rigorous process, with the 
competition of multiple high-quality candidates for any given opening. These 
candidates were filtered according to a strict criteria that aligns with Atmosphere’s 
goals. Demonstration tasks were developed to closely mirror their work 
responsibilities. Interviews and demonstrations were evaluated against a specific 
rubric and point system for the position. 

o Professional Development - The school has continued its investment in coaching and 
professional development. All of these practices are designed to promote 
professional reflection and growth. This year, the school focused on building 
Literacy Across All Content Areas (LAACA). The LAACA initiative promoted the 
consistent use of reading and writing systems in all English, social studies, science, 
physical education and health classes.  Workshops were offered throughout the year 
to teachers in these content areas to develop questions and assignments that would 
effectively utilize the school’s English systems.  Teachers also analyzed student work 
samples and completed inter-rater reliability exercises to insure that the systems 
were being evaluated uniformly across all content area teachers.  The leadership 
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team has also agreed to send staff for professional learning through the Association 
for Middle-Level Education, The College Board and NYC Showcase Schools. 

o Evaluation- Atmosphere continues to use a comprehensive evaluation system for 
instructional staff. The system still utilizes the Danielson based portfolio, but further 
evaluates practitioners against school wide systems for instruction and classroom 
management. A specific observation tool has been constructed to facilitate the 
collection of data. Teachers will be expected to create SMART goals aligned to 
student growth and measure their progress throughout the year. 

● Curricular and Instructional Systems – In 2019 -2020, instruction at Atmosphere Academy 
will continue to focus on growth of students against the standards. Curriculum maps for all 
courses have been developed to provide adherence to the new standards while providing 
connection to real life situations and adequate time for assessment and revisiting of 
content. The following items were revised to facilitate this goal: 

o A specific lesson plan template has been created for each content area. The 
template includes the standards for each area as well as the related ELA 
standards. In addition, spaces for differentiation, reflection, and higher order 
thinking have been added. Lesson plans will continue to be submitted on a weekly 
basis. However, the submission time has been changed to provide more time for 
feedback before their use. Instructional Leaders are able to make comments and 
suggest revisions directly on the template. 

o Curriculum maps have been revised to allow more time in the scope and sequence 
for re-instruction. 

o The maps for grade level ELA courses have been aligned to the New York State Next 
Generation Learning Standards and EngageNY. This work allows us to utilize this 
resource to measure teacher effectiveness and student growth against a standard 
on multiple occasions. It also better supports the full instructional cycle (teach, 
assess, investigate data, identify areas of need, reteach and reassess). 

o In order to support proficiency in the comprehension and analysis of informational 
text, all content areas will assign a news article, specific questions and writing 
prompt on a recurring basis.  All content areas will employ a vertically and 
horizontally aligned expectation for the school’s writing system. 

o The grading policy continues to reflect the need for daily assessment. The policy also 
creates a standard for the minimum number of assessments required so that 
student grades are a compilation of multiple types of tasks. This includes a quarterly 
assessment developed by the department to measure growth over the course of the 
year. Entries will be closely monitored by Instructional Leaders to ensure adherence 
to this policy. 

o All students will continue to receive 750 minutes of Humanities instruction per week 
plus 750 minutes per week of STEM instruction per week and an additional 300 
minutes of Achievement instruction per week. Students will also receive 50 minutes 
of Advisory instruction and 50 minutes of Restorative Justice Instruction which 
focuses on building life skills, study skills, and 21st-century skills. The course also 
facilitates guided work time. Furthermore, special school days been added to the 
calendar and during breaks to provide even more time on task related to 
Achievement instruction. These special days add additional school days. 
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o The school discontinued its partnership with Achievement Network in order to fully 
align assessments with instruction. Through the creation of internal instructional 
structures, standards based instructional materials and assessments were designed 
by teachers with the oversight of Instructional Leaders.  This allowed the school to 
have greater control of the assessments ensuring they assessed the standards 
aligned to the instructional cycle through uniform processes.  As a result, ANet was 
no longer needed as a resource. 

● Intervention Systems – All special education instruction and academic intervention services 
is data-driven. Beyond the full group setting, all students who are not performing at grade 
level in their core academic classes will receive increased supplemental services under the 
school’s Rapid Response to Intervention framework. Students identified through this 
process are provided with a variety of supports. These supports include but are not limited 
to: Read180/Math180 curriculum, alternate setting with a smaller ratio of students to 
teacher (approximately 8:1), Behavior Intervention Plans, Academic Intervention Services 
(after-school). On staff the Intervention Coordinator oversees student data and placement 
in collaboration with an individualized team of teachers and staff members. These decisions 
are made at RTI team meetings on a cyclic basis to review student progress and determine if 
goals are being met. The Literacy Specialist works directly with students by collaboratively 
providing instruction with teachers within the classroom and via small group pull-out 
sessions for students with deficits in reading and writing. Learning Specialists will continue 
to work with special education students in ICT, SETSS, and Self-Contained settings. ELL 
Specialists will work with students via push-in, pull-out, and English as a New Language 
(ENL) classes. Achievement intervention services are provided in alignment with NYS test 
data. Student grouping is individualized as determined by identified areas of need, and 
student growth and placement is progress monitored throughout the year. 

● Data and Achievement Systems– As it has over the first three years of the 
school, Atmosphere will continue to enhance its ability to leverage data, target 
interventions, and develop curriculum that helps meet the needs of all students through the 
identification and remediation of skill and standard deficiencies. 

To help maximize student achievement, Atmosphere has: 

o allocated even more time to its achievement program and achievement curriculum, 
which teach students specific systems and strategies they can use to improve 

o these systems and strategies are designed and embedded with mnemonic devices, 
exemplars, rubrics, step-by-step instructions, and countless best practices 

o these systems and strategies are taught across all related classrooms on a consistent 
manner (for example, Atmosphere's English systems are taught in English, English 
Lab, English Achievement, Social Studies, and Science) 

To properly deliver these systems and strategies, Atmosphere will continue to improve, perfect, 
and expedite its: 

o customization of interventions 
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o creation student micro-groupings 
o sharing of data with key stakeholders 
o development of new and improved English and math systems and strategies 
o use of a data dashboard to create a central clearing house for student assessment, 

academic, and behavioral data that inform data-driven decisions and instruction 
o dissemination of itemized data analysis by question type, standard, demographics, 

and other criteria 
o administration of ongoing progress monitoring through the implementation and 

timely review of sprints measuring distinct skills and standards 
o creation of curricula and selection of appropriate resources that closely mirror test 

structures so as to familiarize students with those structures 

● Culture - Atmosphere will continue to implement cultural norms and stringent classroom 
management procedures. Continuing our Merit and Demerit system will support the 
school’s restorative justice framework and adherence to policies. The school will hold a 
restorative justice council that provides students with opportunities to reflect and address 
negative behaviors (2 days per week) as well as a morning circle which facilitates growth as 
a community (1 day per week). Opportunities to be recognized as STAR students have been 
created to celebrate exemplary behavior and scholarship. Rewards including field trips and 
purchases at the school “swag” store will also promote positive school culture. The school 
life team has been expanded to include grade level deans, a guidance counselor, social 
worker and school aides. An Intervention Coordinator position has been created to 
organize the Response to Intervention program as well as the above-mentioned 
initiatives. Atmosphere will provide professional development workshops for teachers in 
Classroom Management and the restorative justice model. Ongoing coaching to further 
support the proper management techniques and best practices will be given as needed. 

GOAL 2: MATHEMATICS 

Goal 2: Mathematics 
Students will demonstrate high levels of achievement in mathematics. 

BACKGROUND 
Atmosphere’s two course math structure offers students and teachers additional time on task (500 
minutes of math instruction per week) and operates in direct alignment with state standards for 
Mathematical Practice. 

Our Mathematics courses focus on grade-level topics to prepare students for achievement on their 
grade level as well as introducing advanced topics to help increase scholars’ familiarity and comfort 
with content they will see at the next grade level. 

Atmosphere scholars model mathematical concepts with manipulatives and participate in activities 
that lead to the discovery of important. We aim for students to communicate their mathematical 
thinking, reach consensus, and draw conclusions around key ideas together. Teachers follow the 
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Each year, the school’s aggregate Performance Index (“PI”) on the state mathematics exam will 
meet that year’s state Measure of Interim Progress (“MIP”) set forth in the state’s ESSA 
accountability system. 

METHOD 
In New York State, ESSA school performance goals are met by showing that an absolute proportion 
of a school's students who have taken the mathematics test have scored at the partially proficient, 
or proficient and advanced performance levels (Levels 2 or 3 & 4).  The percentage of students at 
each of these three levels is used to calculate a PI and determine if the school has met the MIP set 
each year by the state’s ESSA accountability system.  To achieve this measure, all tested students 
must have a PI value that equals or exceeds the state’s 2018-19 mathematics MIP for all students of 
107.  The PI is the sum of the percent of students in all tested grades combined scoring at Level 2, 
plus two times the percent of students scoring at Level 3, plus two-and-a-half times the percent of 
students scoring at Level 4.  Thus, the highest possible PI is 250. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 
Atmosphere Academy’s Performance Level Index for 2018-19 is 131.5, exceeding the state’s MIP by 
24.5 points. We were also pleased that our PI increased 41.5 points from 2017-18. 

Mathematics 2017-18 Performance Level Index (PI) 
Number in Percent of Students at Each Performance Level 

Cohort Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 
24 28 28 19 

PI = 28 + 28 + 19 = 75 
28 + 19 = 47 

+ (.5)*19 = 9.5 
PI = 131.5 

Goal 2: Comparative Measure 

Each year, the percent of all tested students who are enrolled in at least their second year and 
performing at proficiency on the state mathematics exam will be greater than that of all students in 
the same tested grades in the school district of comparison. 

METHOD 
A school compares the performance of tested students enrolled in at least their second year to that 
of all tested students in the public school district of comparison.  Comparisons are between the 
results for each grade in which the school had tested students in at least their second year at the 
school and the total result for all students at the corresponding grades in the school district.6 

6 Schools can acquire these data when the New York State Education Department releases its database containing grade level 
ELA and math test results for all schools and districts statewide.  The NYSED announces the release of the data on its News 
Release webpage. 
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FORTE PREPARATORY ACADEMY CS +12% 

SCHOOL IN THE SQUARE PUBLIC CS +10% 

BEDFORD STUYVESANT COLLEGIATE CS +9% 

KINGS COLLEGIATE CS +8% 

UTICA ACADEMY OF SCIENCE CS +8% 

DR RICHARD IZQUIERDO HEALTH AND SCIENCE CS +7% 

UNITY PREPARATORY CS OF BROOKLYN +7% 

WILLIAMSBURG COLLEGIATE CS +7% 

WESTERN NEW YORK MARITIME CS +7% 

BROOKLYN EAST COLLEGIATE CS +6% 

UNIVERSITY PREPARATORY CS FOR YOUNG MEN +6% 

COLLEGIATE ACADEMY CS +5% 

AMANI PUBLIC CS +5% 

MOTT HALL CS +5% 

OCEAN HILL COLLEGIATE CS +5% 

ST. HOPE LEADERSHIP ACADEMY CS +5% 

KIPP TECH VALLEY CS +5% 

THE EQUITY PROJECT CS +4% 

BROOKLYN LABORATORY CS +4% 

INWOOD ACADEMY FOR LEADERSHIP CS +3% 

CENTRAL QUEENS ACADEMY CS +3% 

NEW WORLD PREPARATORY CS +2% 

SOUTH BRONX EARLY COLLEGE ACADEMY CS +2% 

YOUNG WOMEN'S COLLEGE PREPARATORY CS +1% 

EQUALITY CS 0% 

ROCHESTER ACADEMY CS 0% 

BROOKLYN URBAN GARDEN CS 0% 

BROWNSVILLE COLLEGIATE CS -1% 

SUMMIT ACADEMY CS -1% 

AMERICAN DREAM CS -1% 

DEMOCRACY PREP ENDURANCE CS -3% 

OPPORTUNITY CS -4% 

BROOKLYN PROSPECT CS-CSD 15 -4% 

LAUNCH EXPEDITIONARY LEARNING CS -4% 
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Atmosphere and many of those scoring below Atmosphere) have ELL and disability 
populations far below Atmosphere’s. In fact, some have 0% ELLs and fewer than 15% 
disabled students. 

● Atmosphere’s 23% growth rate in math proficiency in grades 6-8 year-over-year was first 
among all schools in the comparison group (as stated earlier, it was first among all charter 
schools). 

A closer look at the math performance of Atmosphere’s special populations shows that they 
outperformed the special populations of the local district and Atmosphere’s closest peer charter 
school despite the fact that both start in kindergarten whereas Atmosphere starts in 6th grade. 
Below is a comparison of Atmosphere to Bronx District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School 
(BCCS). 

In terms of overall math proficiency, Atmosphere outperformed the district by 18 points and BCCS 
by 14 points. Atmosphere also had the fewest Level 1 students and the highest number of Level 3 
students and Level 4 students as compared to the district and BCCS. 

However, when this data is disaggregated by demographic sub-groups, the strong performance of 
Atmosphere’s special populations also comes into focus. Below is a comparison of how 
Atmosphere’s Black and Hispanic students performed in math in 2019 as compared with Bronx 
District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School. 
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Atmosphere’s Black and Hispanic students almost doubled the performance of both BCCS and Bronx 
District 10. 

Below is a comparison of how Atmosphere’s English Language Learners performed in math in 2019 
as compared with Bronx District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School. 

Atmosphere’s ELLs underperformed ELLs at BCCS, but still outperformed ELLs in Bronx District 10. 
These results calls for required improvement in the math instruction in Atmosphere’s ELL program 
moving forward. 

Below is a comparison of how Atmosphere’s Students with Disabilities (SWD) performed in math in 
2019 as compared with Bronx District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School. 
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Atmosphere’s SWD almost doubled the proficiency rate of the district and performed 30% better 
than BCCS. This speaks to the superior quality of Atmosphere’s Special Education Program. 

Below is a comparison of how Atmosphere’s Economically Disadvantaged (ED) students performed 
in math in 2019 as compared with Bronx District 10 and Bronx Community Charter School. 

Atmosphere’s ED students significantly outperformed their peers in the district and at BCCS by 19% 
and 16% respectively. This speaks to the superior quality of Atmosphere’s Intervention Program and 
overall Academic Program. 

ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE 

Algebra I Results 

Atmosphere Academy has offered the NYS Algebra Regents Exam to students in its honors program 
for the past two years.  The first 8th grade cohort in 2018 had a total proficiency of 72% of the 
students tested.  Despite this being the school’s inaugural year, Atmosphere outperformed the City 
and High Schools in its District.  Atmosphere also came very close to matching other Junior High 
Schools in its District. While Atmosphere was proud of these initial results, the school strives to 
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increase proficiency and the level of mastery. Atmosphere believes that the 2018 results are a 
result of only having 1 year of preparation in the content.  The 2019 results show 93% proficiency 
and 39.5% of students obtaining a mastery level of 4 and 5.  The 2019 cohort benefitted from 
having 2 years of the Math Honors courses preparing them in the content. The increase of 21% in 
total proficiency can also be attributed to revised curriculum in 8th grade Math Honors, as well as 
consistent instruction and preparation provided by the same teacher. 

Goal 2: Comparative Measure 

Each year, the school will exceed its predicted level of performance on the state mathematics exam 
by an Effect Size of 0.3 or above (performing higher than expected to a meaningful degree) 
according to a regression analysis controlling for economically disadvantaged students among all 
public schools in New York State. 

METHOD 
The Institute conducts a Comparative Performance Analysis, which compares the school’s 
performance to that of demographically similar public schools statewide.  The Institute uses a 
regression analysis to control for the percentage of economically disadvantaged students among all 
public schools in New York State.   The Institute compares the school’s actual performance to the 
predicted performance of public schools with a similar concentration of economically 
disadvantaged students.  The difference between the school’s actual and predicted performance, 
relative to other schools with similar economically disadvantaged statistics, produces an Effect Size. 
An Effect Size of 0.3, or performing higher than expected to a meaningful degree, is the 
requirement for achieving this measure. 
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model that measured performance against a customized rubric created by the 
school that incorporates school values and systems with the Charlotte Danielson 
framework. Some staff members that were invited to return were given assignments 
that better suited their areas of strength as well as the needs of the students. The 
recruitment and hiring of the staff continues to be a rigorous process, with the 
competition of multiple high-quality candidates for any given opening. These 
candidates were filtered according to a strict criteria that aligns with Atmosphere’s 
goals. Demonstration tasks were developed to closely mirror their work 
responsibilities. Interviews and demonstrations were evaluated against a specific 
rubric and point system for the position. 

o The leadership of the math team was changed to better align instructional 
philosophies and priorities between the school and the department. The 
Instructional Leader was replaced and the Achievement Coordinator was reassigned 
to strategically support the grade level with the most need (7). 

o Professional Development - The school has continued its investment in coaching and 
professional development. All of these practices are designed to promote reflection 
and growth. This year, the school has partnered with Blue Engine to provide 
targeted coaching for our 8th grade mathematics teachers.  The leadership team 
has also agreed to send staff for professional learning through the Association for 
Middle-Level Education, The  National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, The 
College Board and NYC Showcase Schools. 

o Evaluation- Atmosphere continues to use a comprehensive  evaluation system for 
instructional staff. The system still utilizes the Danielson based portfolio, but further 
evaluates practitioners against school wide systems for instruction and classroom 
management. A specific observation tool has been constructed to facilitate the 
collection of data. Teachers will be expected to create SMART goals aligned to 
student growth and measure their progress throughout the year. 

● Curricular and Instructional Systems – In 2019 - 2020, instruction at Atmosphere Academy 
will continue to focus on growth of students against the standards. Curriculum maps for all 
courses are being revised to include the New York State Next Generation Learning 
Standards for Mathematics. The scope and sequence addresses these standards  while 
providing connection to real life situations and adequate time for assessment and revisiting 
of content. The following items were revised to facilitate this goal: 

● A specific lesson plan template has been created for each content area. The 
template includes the standards for each area as well as the related Mathematical 
Practices. In addition, spaces for differentiation, reflection, and higher order 
thinking have been added. Lesson plans will continue to be submitted on a weekly 
basis. However, the submission time has been changed to provide more time for 
feedback before their use. Instructional Leaders are able to make comments and 
suggest revisions directly on the template. 

● The Curriculum maps supports the full instructional cycle (teach, assess, investigate 
data, identify areas of need, reteach and reassess) and have been realigned to cover 
all tested content before the NYS assessment. 
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● All Math teachers will address Mathematical Practices and focus on teaching 
students to respond to questions using the SOLVE method (Study the problem, 
Organize the information, Line up your plan, Verify your plan, Examine your result). 

● Additional systems (such as SPACE and MATH) were created to better connect 
mathematics problem solving strategies to specific question types. 

● The achievement course scope and sequence was reallocated to provide more time 
to target areas identified in the midline assessments as well as provide more time to 
prepare students for the state math exam and the Algebra Regents. 

● The grading policy continues to reflect the need for daily assessment. The policy also 
creates a standard for the minimum number of assessments required so that 
student grades are a compilation of multiple types of tasks. This includes a quarterly 
assessment developed by the department to measure growth over the course of the 
year. Entries will be closely monitored by Instructional Leaders to ensure adherence 
to this policy. 

● All students will continue to receive 750 minutes of Humanities instruction per week 
plus 750 minutes per week of STEM instruction per week and an additional 300 
minutes of Achievement instruction per week. Students will also receive 50 minutes 
of Advisory instruction and 50 minutes of Restorative Justice Instruction which 
focuses on building life skills, study skills, and 21st-century skills. The course also 
facilitates guided work time. Furthermore, special school days been added to the 
calendar and during breaks to provide even more time on task related to 
Achievement instruction. These special days add additional school days. 

● The structure of the lab course was reformed to best address the needs of students 
by remediating deficits in connection to the course scope and sequence. 

● The school discontinued its partnership with Achievement Network in order to fully 
align assessments with instruction. Through the creation of internal instructional 
structures, standards based instructional materials and assessments were designed 
by teachers with the oversight of Instructional Leaders.  This allowed the school to 
have greater control of the assessments ensuring they assessed the standards 
aligned to the instructional cycle through uniform processes.  As a result, ANet was 
no longer needed as a resource. 

o Intervention Systems – All special education instruction and academic intervention 
services is data-driven. Beyond the full group setting, all students who are not 
performing at grade level in their core academic classes will receive increased 
supplemental services under the school’s Rapid Response to Intervention 
framework. Students identified through this process are provided with a variety of 
supports. These supports include but are not limited to: Read180/Math180 
curriculum, alternate setting with a smaller ratio of students to teacher 
(approximately 8:1), Behavior Intervention Plans, Academic Intervention Services 
(after-school). On staff the Intervention Coordinator oversees student data and 
placement in collaboration with an individualized team of teachers and staff 
members. These decisions are made at RTI team meetings on a cyclic basis to review 
student progress and determine if goals are being met. The Literacy Specialist works 
directly with students by collaboratively providing instruction with teachers within 
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the classroom and via small group pull-out sessions for students with deficits in 
reading and writing. Learning Specialists will continue to work with special 
education students in ICT, SETSS, and Self-Contained settings. ELL Specialists will 
work with students via push-in, pull-out, and English as a New Language (ENL) 
classes. Achievement intervention services are provided in alignment with NYS test 
data. Student grouping is individualized as determined by identified areas of need, 
and student growth and placement is progress monitored throughout the year. 

● Data and Achievement Systems– As it has over the first three years of the 
school, Atmosphere will continue to enhance its ability to leverage data, target 
interventions, and develop curriculum that helps meet the needs of all students through the 
identification and remediation of skill and standard deficiencies. 

To help maximize student achievement, Atmosphere has: 

o allocated even more time to its achievement program and achievement curriculum, 
which teach students specific systems and strategies they can use to improve 

o these systems and strategies are designed and embedded with mnemonic devices, 
exemplars, rubrics, step-by-step instructions, and countless best practices 

o these systems and strategies are taught across all related classrooms on a consistent 
manner (for example, Atmosphere's English systems are taught in English, English 
Lab, English Achievement, Social Studies, and Science) 

To properly deliver these systems and strategies, Atmosphere will continue to improve, 
perfect, and expedite its: 

o customization of interventions 
o creation student micro-groupings 
o sharing of data with key stakeholders 
o development of new and improved English and math systems and strategies 
o use of a data dashboard to create a central clearing house for student assessment, 

academic, and behavioral data that inform data-driven decisions and instruction 
o dissemination of itemized data analysis by question type, standard, demographics, 

and other criteria 
o administration of ongoing progress monitoring through the implementation and 

timely review of sprints measuring distinct skills and standards 
o creation of curricula and selection of appropriate resources that closely mirror test 

structures so as to familiarize students with those structures 

● Culture - Atmosphere will continue to implement cultural norms and stringent classroom 
management procedures. Continuing our Merit and Demerit system will support the 
school’s restorative justice framework and adherence to policies. The school will hold a 
restorative justice council that provides students with opportunities to reflect and address 
negative behaviors (2 days per week) as well as a morning circle which facilitates growth as 
a community (1 day per week). Opportunities to be recognized as STAR students have been 
created to celebrate exemplary behavior and scholarship. Rewards including field trips and 
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purchases at the school “swag” store will also promote positive school culture. The school 
life team has been expanded to include grade level deans, a guidance counselor, social 
worker and school aides. An Intervention Coordinator position has been created to 
organize the Response to Intervention program as well as the above-mentioned 
initiatives. Atmosphere will provide professional development workshops for teachers in 
Classroom Management and the restorative justice model. Ongoing coaching to further 
support the proper management techniques and best practices will be given as needed. 

GOAL 3: SCIENCE 

Goal 3: Science 
Students will demonstrate high levels of achievement in Science. 

BACKGROUND 
Atmosphere’s middle school science coursework is arranged into three courses: 

● 6th Grade Physical Science 
● 7th Grade Life Science 
● 8th Grade Earth Science 

Each course was designed to align with the New York State Core Curriculum Learning Standards for 
Math, Science, and Technology (MST Standards). Atmosphere also used the Next Generation 
Science Standards and the National Science Education Standards as additional, informal guideposts 
to help inform its curricular choices and instructional philosophy in the science classroom.  The 
order of the three courses has been altered from the order proposed in the school’s charter 
application to better align with the Next Generation standards. The school is in the process of 
revising the curriculum to include the New York State P-12 Science Learning Standards. 

To address these standards, Atmosphere utilizes materials from Amplify Science, FOSS Life Science 
and Pearson’s Interactive Science.   Atmosphere chose these curricula because of their emphasis on 
inquiry-based learning, multimodal learning, and science application, which helps to facilitate the 
kind of creative thinking, critical thinking, and collaborative leadership skills that are central to 
Atmosphere’s mission and vision. 

In keeping with its blended approach to learning, Atmosphere supplements the science curriculum 
with web-based applications and supplemental resources that give students the chance to engage 
in inquiry-based scientific discovery: 

● Khan Academy: The biology, physics, cosmology, and astronomy sections of Khan Academy 
are leveraged for independent and guided practice. 

● Flocabulary: The science section of the website is a tool for introducing a topic and 
increasing student interest. 
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ACTION PLAN 
The improvements and revisions made to the school’s science program mirror those presented 
above in the English Language Arts and Mathematics action plan. These changes are focused on 
continued professional development of highly qualified practitioners, a significant reallocation of 
staffing resources to better support students with the greatest level of need, a consistent use of 
data and achievement systems to target and remediate student deficiencies, increased expectations 
of both students and staff, and continued tight supervision and evaluation of teachers. 

In addition, these improvements, the achievement course scope and sequence was reallocated to 
provide more time to target areas identified by benchmark  assessments as well as provide more 
time to prepare students for the written and performance sections of the state science exam.  The 
school has continued its investment in coaching and professional development in science. This year, 
the leadership team has agreed to send staff for professional learning through the Middle School 
Science Administrator Institute, the Association for Middle-Level Education, Amplify Science, Urban 
Advantage, The College Board and NYC Showcase Schools. 

GOAL 4: ESSA 

Goal 4: ESSA 
The school will make adequate yearly pro 

Goal 4: Absolute Measure 

Under the state’s ESSA accountability system, the school is in good standing:  the state has not 
identified the school for comprehensive or targeted improvement.  

METHOD 
Because all students are expected to meet the state's performance standards, the federal statute 
stipulates that various sub-populations and demographic categories of students among all tested 
students must meet the state standard in and of themselves aside from the overall school results. 
As New York State, like all states, is required to establish a specific system for making these 
determinations for its public schools, charter schools do not have latitude in establishing their own 
performance levels or criteria of success for meeting the ESSA accountability requirements.  Each 
year, the state issues School Report Cards that indicate a school’s status under the state 
accountability system. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 
Atmosphere Academy has been deemed to be in Good Standing this year. 

ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE 
AAPCS has maintained an accountability status of Good Standing in all years of operation. 

Accountability Status by Year 
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Year Status 
2016-17 Good Standing 
2017-18 Good Standing 
2018-19 Good Standing 



	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Entry 4 Expenditures per Child 
Last updated: 07/26/2019 

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOLSection Heading 

Financial Information 

This information is required of ALL charter schools. Provide the following measures of fiscal 
performance of the charter school in Appendix B (Total Expenditures and Administrative Expenditures 

Per Child): 

1. Total Expenditures Per Child 

To calculate ‘Total Expenditures per Child’ take total expenditures (from the unaudited 2018-
19 Schedule of Functional Expenses) and divide by the year end FTE student enrollment. 
(Integers Only. No dollar signs or commas). 

Note: The information on the Schedule of Functional Expenses on pages 41–43 of the 

Audit Guide can help schools locate the amounts to use in the two per pupil 
calculations: Audit Guide available within the portal or on the NYSED website 

at: http://www.p12.nysed.gov/psc/regentsoversightplan/otherdocuments/auditguide2018.pdf. 

Line 1: Total Expenditures 9736386 

Line 2: Year End FTE student enrollment 406 

Line 3: Divide Line 1 by Line 2 23978 

1 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		

		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	

2. Administrative Expenditures per Child 

To calculate ‘Administrative Expenditures per Child' To calculate “Administrative Expenditures per 

Child” first add together the following: 

1. Take the relevant portion from the ‘personnel services cost’ row and the ‘management and general’ 
column (from the unaudited 2018 19 Schedule of Functional Expenses) 

2. Any contracted administrative/management fee paid to other organizations or corporations 

3. Take the total from above and divide it by the year end FTE enrollment. The relevant portion that must 
be included in this calculation is defined as follows: 

Administrative Expenditures: Administration and management of the charter school includes the 

activities and personnel of the offices of the chief school officer, the finance or business offices, school 
operations personnel, data management and reporting, human resources, technology, etc. It also 

includes those administrative and management services provided by other organizations or corporations 

on behalf of the charter school for which the charter school pays a fee or other compensation. Do not 
include the FTE of personnel whose role is to directly support the instructional program. 

Notes: 
The information on the Schedule of Functional Expenses on pages 41–43 of the Audit Guide 

can help schools locate the amounts to use in the two per pupil calculations: 
http://www.p12.nysed.gov/psc/AuditGuide.html. 
Employee benefit costs or expenditures should not be reported in the above calculations. 

Line 1: Relevant Personnel Services 
Cost (Row) 

Line 2: Management and General Cost
(Column) 

Line 3: Sum of Line 1 and Line 2 

Line 5: Divide Line 3 by the Year End
FTE student enrollment 

Thank you. 

597987 

805661 

1403648 

3457 

2 / 2 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Board of Trustees 
Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2019, and the related statements of activities and changes 
in net (deficiency) assets, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School as of June 30, 2019, and the changes in its net (deficiency) assets 
and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

We have previously audited Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School’s June 30, 2018 financial statements, and 
we expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated September 26, 
2018. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2018, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived. 

Other Report Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 18, 2019 on our 
consideration of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting 
or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

Rochester, New York 
September 18, 2019 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

ASSETS June 30, 
2019 2018 

CURRENT ASSETS
 Cash $ 218,065 $ 85,081 

  Grants and contract receivables 102,606 170,018
  Contributions and other receivables 4,673 860
  Pledge receivable - related party 50,000 -

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 25,592 50,309 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 400,936 306,268 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 852,605 621,493 

OTHER ASSETS
 Cash in escrow 75,043 75,006
 Deposits 189,906 100,140
  Deferred rent benefit - 39,355 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,518,490 $ 1,142,262 

LIABILITIES AND NET (DEFICIENCY) ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 549,924 $ 485,988 
  Current portion of loans from related party 30,000 -
  Due to NYC Department of Education 300,027  -

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 879,951 485,988 

OTHER LIABILITIES
   Long-term loans from related party 510,000 585,000
   Deferred lease liability 172,157  -

OTHER LIABILITIES  682,157 585,000 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,562,108 1,070,988 

NET (DEFICIENCY) ASSETS

 Without donor restrictions (43,618) 71,274 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET (DEFICIENCY) ASSETS $ 1,518,490 $ 1,142,262 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET (DEFICIENCY) ASSETS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

Year ended June 30, 
2019 2018 

Revenue, gains and other support:
 Public school district:

    Resident student enrollment $ 6,274,548 $ 5,853,291 
    Students with disabilities 996,952 813,926
 Grants and contracts:

 State and local 209,621 169,517
    Federal - Title and IDEA 394,266 389,224
    Federal - other 25,776 -

NYC DOE Rental assistance 1,564,581 1,217,747 

TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 9,465,744 8,443,705 

Expenses:
  Program services:
    Regular education 6,072,263 5,156,622

 Special education 2,189,106 2,187,219 

TOTAL PROGRAM SERVICES 8,261,369 7,343,841
  Management and general 1,476,915 1,332,305 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 9,738,284 8,676,146

 DEFICIT FROM SCHOOL OPERATIONS (272,540) (232,441) 

Support and other revenue:
 Contributions:
   Individuals 101,766 8,965
 In-kind contributions - 29,476
 Fundraising 37,031 28,386
 Other income 6,808 -
 Sublease rental income 12,000 12,000

 Interest income 43 49  

TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 157,648 78,876 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (114,892) (153,565) 

Net assets at beginning of year 71,274 224,839

 NET (DEFICIENCY) ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ (43,618) $ 71,274 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

Year ended June 30, 
2019 2018 

No. of Program Services Supporting Services 
Positions Management 
June 30, Regular Special and 

2019 Education Education Sub-total General Sub-total Total Total 
Personnel services costs:
  Administrative staff personnel

 14 

$ 807,166 $ 

204,688 

$  1,011,854 $ 

596,019 

$ 596,019 $ 

1,607,873 

$ 1,457,928 
  Instructional personnel

 49 

             2,202,927 

920,143 

             3,123,070 

1,969 

1,969 
3,125,039

       2,679,045 
Total salaries and wages

 63 

     3,010,093 
1,124,831 

             4,134,924 

597,988 

                597,988 

4,732,912

       4,136,973 

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes                 628,785 

234,968 

                863,753 

124,915 

                124,915           988,668        1,167,692 
Retirement                   99,682 

37,250 

             136,932 

19,803 

19,803 

156,735

          118,198 
Legal services

 - - - 45,760 

45,760 

45,760

            63,801 
Accounting/Audit services

 -

-

- 21,200 

21,200 

21,200

            19,600 
Other Purchased/Professional/Consulting Services       24,336 

9,094 

33,430 

209,297 

                209,297 

242,727

          212,424 
Building rent              1,097,296 

410,044 

          1,507,340 

217,990 

                217,990 

1,725,330

       1,099,310 
Repairs and maintenance                 115,825 

43,282 

                159,107 23,010 23,010 

182,117

      124,348 
Insurance                   38,568           14,412 52,980 

7,662 

7,662 

60,642

            41,272 
Utilities                   57,979 

21,666 

79,645 

11,518 

11,518 

91,163

            47,976 
Supplies/Materials                 241,674 

61,285 
                302,959 

-
- 302,959

         371,863 
Equipment/Furnishings                   20,773 

6,892 

27,665 
2,687 2,687 

30,352

            23,537 
Staff development 6,769 

1,842 
8,611 208 208 

8,819

              4,181 
Marketing/Recruitment                   22,315 

6,632 

28,947 
1,609 1,609 

30,556

              2,720 
Technology                 130,475           48,757                 179,232 

38,838 

38,838 

218,070

          272,634 
Food service                   21,841 5,539 27,380 -

-
27,380

         11,681 
Student services                 375,033 95,104                 470,137 -

- 470,137

       597,714 
Office expense                   15,835             5,917 21,752 

121,008 

             121,008 

142,760

          150,356 
Depreciation and amortization                 140,638 

52,555 

                193,193 
27,939 

27,939 

221,132

         196,022 
Other                   24,346 

9,036 

33,382 

5,483 

5,483 

38,865

            13,844 

$ 6,072,263 $ 
2,189,106 

$ 8,261,369 $ 
1,476,915 

$ 1,476,915 $ 

9,738,284

 $ 8,676,146 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

 Year ended June 30, 

CASH FLOWS - OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Change in net (deficiency) assets 

  Adjustments to reconcile change in net (deficiency) assets to net cash 
provided from operating activities:

      Depreciation and amortization 
Changes in certain assets and liabilities affecting operations:

        Grants and contract receivables 
        Contributions and other receivables 
        Pledge receivable - related party 
        Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
        Deposits 
        Deferred rent benefit 
        Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
        Deferred lease liability 
        Due to NYC Department of Education 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

$ 

2019 

(114,892) 

221,132 

67,412 
(3,813) 

(50,000) 
24,717 

(89,766) 
39,355 
63,936 

172,157 
300,027 

630,265 

$ 

2018 

(153,565) 

196,022

(16,864)
1,308

-
(27,984)
(38,892)
40,087
80,945

-
(12,945) 

68,112 

CASH FLOWS - INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Purchases of property and equipment 
  Increase in cash in escrow 

NET CASH USED FOR 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

(452,244) 
(37) 

(452,281) 

(442,484)
(24,991) 

(467,475) 

CASH FLOWS - FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Borrowings from a related party 
  Repayments to a related party 

NET CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

1,160,000 
(1,205,000) 

(45,000) 

1,390,000
(950,000) 

440,000 

NET INCREASE IN CASH 132,984 40,637 

Cash at beginning of year 
CASH AT END OF YEAR $ 

85,081 
218,065 $ 

44,444 
85,081 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
 Cash paid during the year for interest $ 3,703 $ 2,045 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

- 8 -



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

   
     

    
    

   
 

 
     

    

 
 

 
   

     
  

 
 

  
    

  
    

 
 

 

   

 
   

 
 

 
 
   
     

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Charter School 
Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School (the “Charter School”) is an educational corporation that operates 
as a charter school in Bronx, New York. The Charter School is a middle school with the mission of preparing 
students to be ready for college, career and life. On October 16, 2014 the Board of Trustees of the University of 
the State of New York granted the Charter School a provisional charter valid for a term of five years and 
renewable upon expiration. 

Financial Statement presentation 
The financial statements of the Charter School have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).  The Charter 
School reports information regarding its financial position and activities according to two classes of net assets: 
net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions. 

These classes of net assets are defined as follows: 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – The net assets over which the Governing Board has discretionary 
control to use in carrying on the Charter School’s operations in accordance with the guidelines established by 
the Charter School. The Board may designate portions of the current net assets without donor restrictions for 
specific purposes, projects or investment. 

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to donor (or certain grantor) imposed restrictions.  
Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time 
or other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the 
donor stipulates that resources be maintained in perpetuity. Donor-imposed restrictions are released when a 
restriction expires, that is, when the stipulated time has elapsed, when the stipulated purpose for which the 
resource was restricted has been fulfilled, or both. The Charter School had no net assets with donor restrictions 
at June 30, 2019 or 2018. 

Revenue and support recognition 
Revenue from state and local governments resulting from the Charter School’s charter status and based on the 
number of students enrolled is recorded when services are performed in accordance with the charter agreement. 

Revenue from federal, state and local government grants and contracts are recorded by the Charter School when 
qualifying expenditures are incurred and billable or the requirements of the grant are met. 

Contributions are recognized as revenue in the year the pledge is received and documented.   

Contributions 
Contributions and unconditional promises to give are recorded as revenue in the appropriate class of net assets 
depending on the existence of any donor restrictions. A contribution that is received and expended in the same 
period for a specific purpose is classified as revenue without donor restrictions. 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, 
Cont’d 

Contributions are recorded as restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of 
the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated purpose restriction is 
accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and 
reported in the statement of activities and changes in net assets as net assets released from restrictions. 

Cash 
Cash balances are maintained at financial institutions located in New York and are insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation up to $250,000 at each institution. In the normal course of business, the cash account 
balances at any given time may exceed insured limits. However, the Charter School has not experienced any 
losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to significant risk in cash.  

Cash in escrow 
The Charter School maintains cash in an escrow account in accordance with the terms of its charter agreement.  
The agreement requires $25,000 be placed in escrow each of the first three years of operations and a balance of 
$75,000 be maintained to fund any audit and legal expenses incurred should the Charter School cease operations 
and dissolve. 

Grants and other receivables 
Grants and other receivables are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances.  
Management provides for probable uncollectible amounts based on its assessment of the current status of individual 
receivables from grants, agencies and others. Balances that are still outstanding after management has used 
reasonable collection efforts are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. There was no allowance 
for doubtful accounts at June 30, 2019 or 2018. 

Pledges receivable 
Pledges receivable represent unconditional promises to give. Pledges that are expected to be collected within one 
year are recorded at their realizable value. Those that are to be collected in future years are recorded at the present 
value of estimated future collections. As described in Note L, as of June 30, 2019 all pledges receivable are 
expected to be collected within one year and are accordingly recorded at their realizable value in the 
accompanying statement of financial position.  

Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line 
method on a basis considered adequate to depreciate the assets over their estimated useful lives, which range 
from three to seven years.  Leasehold improvements are being amortized over the term of the lease. 

Deferred rent benefit/liability 
The Charter School leases its facilities. The leases contain pre-determined changes of the base rent. In accordance 
with GAAP, the Charter School recognizes the related rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease terms 
and records the difference between the recognized rental expense and the amounts payable under the leases as a 
deferred rent benefit or liability. 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, 
Cont’d 

Contributed services 
The Organization receives contributed services from volunteers to develop its academic program and to serve on 
the Board of Trustees. These services are not valued in the financial statements because they do not require 
“specialized skills” and would typically not be purchased if they were not contributed.  

The Charter School received contributed services, for consulting and legal services, which were valued at $29,476 
for the year ended June 30, 2018. These amounts are included in in-kind contributions in the accompanying 
statement of activities and changes in net assets – without donor restrictions, and the statement of functional 
expenses. The Charter School received no contributed services for consulting and legal services for the year 
ended June 30, 2019. 

Tax exempt status 
The Charter School is a tax-exempt organization under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and 
applicable state regulations and, accordingly, is exempt from federal and state taxes on income.   

The Charter School files Form 990 tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction. The tax returns for the years ended 
June 30, 2016 through June 30, 2019 are still subject to potential audit by the IRS.  Management of the Charter 
School believes it has no material uncertain tax positions and, accordingly it will not recognize any liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits. 

Marketing costs 
The Charter School expenses marketing costs as they are incurred. Total marketing and recruiting costs 
approximated $30,600 and $2,700 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, respectively. 

Deferred revenue 
The Charter School records grant revenue as deferred revenue until it is expended for the purpose of the grant, at 
which time it is recognized as revenue. 

In-kind contributions 
Gifts and donations other than cash are recorded at fair market value at the date of contribution.  

Deposits 
Deposits are made up of payments to third parties in connection with facility lease agreements. 

Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, 
Cont’d 

Change in accounting principle 
During August 2016 FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-14 “Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) 
Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities”. The main provisions of ASU 2016-14 require a 
Not-For-Profit (NFP) to: 

1) Present on the face of the statement of financial position amounts for two classes of net assets at the end of 
the period, rather than three classes. That is, an NFP will report amounts for net assets with donor restrictions 
and net assets without donor restrictions, as well as the currently required amount for total net assets. 

2) Present on the face of the statement of activities the amount of the change in each of the two classes of net 
assets (noted in item 1) rather than that of the required three classes as in prior years. An NFP would continue 
to report the currently required amount of the change in total net assets for the period. 

3) Continue to present on the face of the statement of cash flows the net amount for operating cash flows using 
either the direct or indirect method of reporting but no longer require the presentation or disclosure of the 
indirect method (reconciliation) if using the direct method. 

4) Provide enhanced disclosures about:  

a) Composition of net assets with donor restrictions at the end of the period and how the restrictions affect 
the use of resources. 

b) Qualitative information that communicates how a NFP manages its liquid resources available to meet 
cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the statement of financial position date. 

c) Quantitative information, and additional qualitative information, that communicates the availability of 
an NFP’s financial assets at the statement of financial position date to meet cash needs for general 
expenditures within one year of the statement of financial position date. Availability of a financial asset 
may be affected by (1) its nature, (2) external limits imposed by donors, grantors, laws, and contracts 
with others, and (3) internal limits imposed by Board of Trustee decisions. 

d) Amounts of expenses by both their natural classification and their functional classification. That analysis 
of expenses is to be provided in one location. 

e) Method(s) used to allocate costs among program and support functions. 

ASU 2016-14 is effective for financial statements beginning after December 15, 2017 and was applied 
retrospectively except for disclosures regarding liquidity and availability of resources, which are presented only 
for the current year. There was no effect on total assets or changes in net assets. The Charter School has adopted 
the amendments effective July 1, 2018. 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, 
Cont’d 

New accounting pronouncements 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued a new standard related to revenue 
recognition. Under the standard, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or 
services in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods 
or services. For nonpublic entities, the guidance in this new standard is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2019. The Charter School is currently evaluating the provisions of this standard to 
determine the impact the new standard will have on the Center’s financial position or results of operations. 

Leases 
In February 2016, the FASB issued a new standard related to leases to increase transparency and comparability 
among entities by requiring the recognition of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities on the statement 
of financial position. Most prominent among the changes in the standard is the recognition of ROU assets and 
lease liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under current U.S. GAAP. For 
nonpublic entities, the guidance in this new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2019, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The Charter School is 
currently evaluating the provisions of this standard to determine the impact the new standard will have on the 
Center’s financial position or results of operations. 

Subsequent events 
The Charter School has conducted an evaluation of potential subsequent events occurring after the statement of 
financial position date through September 18, 2019, which is the date the financial statements are available to be 
issued. No subsequent events requiring disclosure were noted, except as disclosed in Note L. 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE B: LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY 

The Charter School regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other contractual 
commitments. The Charter School’s main source of liquidity is its cash accounts. 

For purposes of analyzing resources available to meet general expenditures over a 12-month period, the Charter 
School considers all expenditures related to its ongoing activities of teaching, and public service as well as the 
conduct of services undertaken to support those activities to be general expenditures.  

In addition to financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the next 12 months, the Charter School 
operates with a balanced budget and anticipates collecting sufficient revenue to cover general expenditures not 
covered by donor-restricted resources. Refer to the statement of cash flows which identifies the sources and uses 
of the Charter School’s cash and shows positive cash generated by operations for fiscal year 2019. 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting their use, 
within one year of the statement of financial position date, comprise the following at June 30, 2019:

    Amount   

Cash 
Grants and contract receivables 
Contributions and other receivables 
Pledge receivable - related party 

$ 218,065 
102,606 

4,673 
50,000 

Total financial assets available to management for general 
expenditures within one year $ 375,344 

NOTE C: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment consist of the following: 

2019 
June 30, 

2018 

Furniture and fixtures 
Office and classroom equipment 
Leasehold improvements 
Software 
Computers and equipment 
Construction in progress 

Less accumulated depreciation 

$ 334,630 $ 
230,469 
652,573 
17,434 

249,859 
-

1,484,965 
632,360 

$ 852,605 $ 

208,841 
181,828 
285,598 
17,434 

249,859 
89,160 

1,032,720 
411,227 

621,493 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE D: SCHOOL FACILITIES 

The Charter School leases its facilities from a third party with current monthly payments of $57,500, and monthly 
payments escalate through June 2029. Rent expense incurred under this lease for the years ended June 30, 2019 
and 2018 was approximately $856,000 and $631,500, respectively. The Charter School has two sublease 
agreements for this facility for the use of space during the summer months and after school. Sublease rental 
income for these agreements for both the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 approximated $12,000. 

The Charter School leases a second location from a third party with current monthly payments of $47,500, and 
monthly payments escalate through August 2022. Rent expense for this location approximated $569,000 and 
$451,000 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  

In April 2017, the Charter School entered into a 10 year agreement with a third party to lease a third location 
with escalating monthly payments of approximately $30,000 per month. The lease went into effect when the 
School received the certificate of occupancy in November 2018. Rent expense for this location approximated 
$243,000 for the year ended June 30, 2019. There is an additional lease for parking at this location for $4,225 
per month through November 2021. 

The lease agreements call for changes in the monthly lease payments. The deferred rent liability represents the 
difference between what will be paid by the Charter School and what is due based on a straight-line calculation 
of rent over the term of the leases. 

The future minimum payments required under the agreements are approximately as follows: 

Year ending June 30, Amount 

2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 

Thereafter 

$ 1,926,700 
1,902,900 
1,895,400 
1,329,100 
1,228,300 
5,948,000 

$ 14,230,400 

NOTE E: CONTINGENCY 

Certain grants and contracts may be subject to audit by funding sources. Such audits might result in disallowance 
of costs submitted for reimbursement by the Charter School. Management is of the opinion that such 
disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial statements. Accordingly, no 
amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial statements for such potential claims. 

- 15 -



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

    

 
     

 
    

    
 

 

 
 

   
      

  
 

 
    

    

 

           
           

 
 

 
 

 
  

     
 

 
  

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE F: CONCENTRATIONS 

At June 30, 2019, approximately 68% of grants and contract receivables are due from New York State agencies 
relating to certain grants. 

At June 30, 2018, approximately 81% of grants and contract receivables were due from New York State agencies 
relating to certain grants. 

For both the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 , approximately 95% of total revenue, gains, and other support 
came from per-pupil funding and rental assistance provided by New York State through the New York City 
School District. The per-pupil rate is set annually by the State based on the school district in which the Charter 
School’s students are located. 

NOTE G: RETIREMENT PLAN 

The Charter School sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan (the “Plan) for its employees. All employees are 
immediately eligible to participate in the Plan. The Plan allows for the Charter School to make a matching 
contribution to the Plan. The Charter School contributed approximately $157,000 and $118,000 to the Plan for 
the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

NOTE H: OPERATING LEASE 

The Charter School leases office equipment under non-cancelable lease agreements at a monthly cost of 
approximately $11,600 that will expire at various dates through November 2021. The future minimum payments 
on this agreement is approximately as follows: 

Year ending June 30, Amount 

2020 
2021 

2022 

$ 78,400 
49,600 
15,600 

$ 143,600 

NOTE I: FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributed to more than one program or 
supporting function. Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied. 
All expenses that are allocated to more than one program or supporting function are allocated on the basis of 
estimates of time and effort.  
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE J: DUE TO NYC DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

Amounts due to the NYC Department of Education represent overpayments related to lease assistance provided by 
the City for school facilities. These amounts consist of $300,027 at June 30, 2019 and are included as a liability in 
the accompanying statement of financial position. 

NOTE K: RENEWAL PROCESS 

The Charter School is currently in the process of renewing its charter as granted by the New York State Board of 
Regents. The Charter currently expires July 31, 2020. The renewal process includes review by the State 
University of New York Charter Schools Institute (CSI) of various operational and governance aspects, including 
fiscal health and internal controls, board governance, and academic performance. The Charter School has 
submitted its application for renewal. Upon review of the application and results, CSI will determine if the charter 
should be renewed and if so, for how long. Successful charter renewals can range from one to five years. At this 
time, management of the Charter School expects the charter to be renewed. 

NOTE L: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Loans from related party is summarized as follows:  

2019 
June 30, 

2018 

Restructured note payable to a Board Trustee with principal due in 
three annual installments of $150,000, one installment of $60,000, and 
interest at prime plus 100 basis points (6.50% at June 30, 2019) 
through July 2023. $ 510,000 $ -

Note payable to a Board Trustee due in one installment of principal 
and interest at 6.5% in July 2019. This loan was repaid in full 
subsequent to year end.  30,000  -

Notes repaid in 2019 - 440,000 

Notes restructured in 2019 

Less current portion 
$ 

- 145,000 

540,000 585,000 
30,000  -

510,000 $ 585,000 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(With Comparative Totals for 2018) 

NOTE L: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS, Cont’d 

Annual maturities of long-term debt are as follows: 

Year ending June 30, Amount 

2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 

2024 

$ 30,000 
150,000 
150,000 
150,000 

60,000 

$ 540,000 

As of June 30, 2019, the Charter School has a $50,000 pledge receivable from a Board Trustee to be paid in 
September 2019, which is included in the accompanying statement of financial position.  

The Charter School is related to Atmosphere Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) through common board 
representation.  There were no contributions from the Foundation for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. 
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REPORT REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 
  

    
  

 

 
 

 
     

 
  

   
    

 
 

     
 

       
  

    
 

 
 

 

       
   

  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 
ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Trustees 
Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2019 and the related statements of activities and changes 
in net assets – without donor restrictions, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2019. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Atmosphere Academy Public Charter 
School’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter 
School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.   
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 

We noted certain matters that we have reported to management of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School in a 
separate letter dated September 18, 2019. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 

Rochester, New York 
September 18, 2019 
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September  18,  2019  

Board of Trustees 
Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School 
(the “Charter School”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, we considered the Charter School’s internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for 
the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Charter School’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Charter School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A reasonable possibility exists when the 
likelihood of an event occurring is either reasonably possible or probable as defined as follows: 

 Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but less than 
likely. 

 Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this letter and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Given these 
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 
weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  

During the course of our audit of the financial statements of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2019, we observed the Charter School’s significant accounting policies and certain 
business, financial and administrative practices. As a result of our observations, we updated the following, which 
we do not consider to be a significant deficiency or material weakness: 
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Status of matters included in our letter as of June 30, 2018, dated September 26, 2018: 

Approval of Purchases 
During our audit, we noted one instance where a purchase over $15,000 was signed by the Principal but was not 
signed by a Board Member. Current procedures require all purchases over this threshold to be signed by both the 
Principal and a Board Member.  

Recommendation 
We recommend all purchases over $15,000 be approved by both the Principal and a Board Member  or the  
Charter School update their financial policies to allow for Board approval of the disbursement in a means other 
than a physical signature. We noted subsequent to year end, the Charter School was in the process of 
implementing a new policy where purchases over $15,000 could be approved by a Board Member 
electronically. We feel the implementation of this policy could strengthen the Charter School’s authorization 
and approval process of disbursements while reducing some of the difficulties and problems associated with the 
original policy. 

Status as of June 30, 2019 
During our 2019 audit, we noted that the Charter School updated their financial policies to allow for 
purchases under $20,000 to be signed by the Principal and purchases over $20,000 to be signed by the 
Principal and Trustee documented approval. We noted during our audit that this policy was being followed. 

Acknowledgment of Contributions  
During our audit, we noted contribution acknowledgement letters were not sent to individuals who donated over 
$250 to the Charter School. 

Recommendation 
We recommend the Charter School follow its policy of acknowledging all contributions over this amount in 
writing. In accordance with current Treasury regulations a donor who makes a cash contribution of $250 or 
more to is required to obtain a proper acknowledgement of the gift from the Charter School in order for the 
contribution to be deductible. 

Status as of June 30, 2019 
During our 2019 audit, we noted contribution acknowledgement letters were sent to donors. 

* * * * * 
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This communication is intended solely for the information and use of Management and the Board of Trustees and is 
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

We appreciate the outstanding cooperation from your staff that our personnel received during the audit of the 
Charter School’s financial statements. Should you have any questions or comments, please contact Shelby Stenson 
or Caitlin Langmead. 

Very  truly  yours,  

MENGEL,  METZGER, BARR & CO. LLP 
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September 18, 2019 

Finance Committee 
Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School 

We have audited the financial statements of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School as of and for the year 
then ended June 30, 2019, and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2019. Professional standards 
require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

As communicated in our engagement letter dated May 8, 2019, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been prepared by 
management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve 
you or management of its respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, 
rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of 
financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we 
considered the internal control of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School solely for the purpose of 
determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional 
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not 
required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you. 

We have provided our updated comments regarding other matters noted during our audit in a separate letter to you. 
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Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you. 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm have complied with all relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence. 

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the significant 
accounting policies adopted by Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School is included in Note A to the financial 
statements. As disclosed in Note A to the financial statements, during the year, the Organization adopted Financial 
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-14, Presentation of Financial Statements 
of Not-for-Profit Entities.  No  matters have  come to  our attention  that would require  us,  under professional 
standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the 
effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience about past 
and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting 
them may differ markedly from management’s current judgments. 

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are the allocations of operating expenses 
to program expenses, management and general expenses, and fundraising expenses and the collectability of grants 
receivable. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates and determined that they 
are reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Financial Statement Disclosures 

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of their 
significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting Atmosphere Academy Public 
Charter School’s financial statements relate to revenue and support recognition, which is referred to in the notes of 
the financial statements. 
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Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 

We are pleased to report we encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the 
performance of the audit. 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them to the 
appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the effect of 
uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account balances or 
disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. Management has corrected all such misstatements. In addition, 
none of the misstatements detected as a result of our audit procedures and corrected by management were material, 
either individually or in the aggregate , to the financial statements taken as a whole.  

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether or 
not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, which could be 
significant to Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are 
pleased to report no such disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 

Representations Requested from Management 

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the management 
representation letter.  

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters. 
Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other accountants regarding 
auditing and accounting matters. 

Other Significant Matters, Findings or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School, we 
generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, 
business conditions affecting the entity, and business plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material 
misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as Atmosphere Academy Public 
Charter School’s auditors. 
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* * * * * 

Should you desire further information concerning these matters, Shelby Stenson or Caitlin Langmead will be happy 
to meet with you at your convenience. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trustees, Finance Committee and 
management of Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

MENGEL, METZGER, BARR & CO. LLP 
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Transmittal Form 
Annual Financial Statement Audit Report 

for SUNY Authorized Charter Schools 

Charter School Name: Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School 

Audit Period: 2018-19 
Prior Period: 2017-18 

Report Due Date: Friday, November 01, 2019 
Date Submitted: Select from drop-down list → 

School Fiscal Contact Name: Colin Greene 
School Fiscal Contact Email: 
School Fiscal Contact Phone: 

School Audit Firm Name: Mengel Metzger Barr & Co. LLP 
School Audit Contact Name: Shelby Stenson 
School Audit Contact Email: 
School Audit Contact Phone: 

Please submit the Annual Financial Statement and other associated documents 
to BOTH 

SUNY Charter Schools Institute 
AND 

New York State Education Department 

SUNY CHARTER SCHOOLS INSTITUTE - Reporting Requirements: 
Online Portal: https://my.epicenternow.org/home.aspx 

Required 8 Items: 
1) The independent auditor’s report on financial statements and notes; 
2) Excel template file with appropriate sheets completed: Financial Position, Statement of Activities, Cash Flow and 

Functional Expenses worksheets; and 
3) Reports on internal controls over financial reporting and on compliance. 

And, if applicable: 
The additional items listed below should be included if applicable. Please explain the reason(s) if the items are not 
included. 
Examples might include: a written management letter was not issued; the school did not expend federal funds in 
excess of the Single Audit Threshold of $750,000; the management letter response will be submitted by the following 
date (should be no later than 30 days from the submission of the report); etc  If not applicable enter "N/A "

4) 

5) 

6) 

7) 

If not included, state the reason(s) below. Or, if not applicable fill in"N/A"): 

Management Letter 

Management Letter Response N/A 

Form 990; or Extension Form 8868 
Federal Single Audit/ Uniform 
Guidance in 2 CFR Part 200  The School did not expend federal funds in excess of the Single Audit Threshold o   



   

       
 

 
                                     

     
  

       
                   

         
 

                             7) 

8) 

Guidance in 2 CFR Part 200,     p        g      

Subpart F 
Corrective Action Plan N/A 

NEW YORK STATE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT - Reporting Requirements: 
Online Portal: https://nysed-cso-reports.myreviewroom.com/ 

Required Items: 
1) This transmital form (a copy of the Excel file containing the four schedules Does NOT need to be included); 
2) Audited Financial Report; 

And, if applicable: 
3) Management Letter and Response; 
4) Federal Single Audit/Uniform Guidance in 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F. 



    
   

    

 
     
     

   
 

     
  

    

 

 

   

 
       
     
 

       
           
 

 

 
 

                  

 

 

 

  

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Financial Position 

as of June 30, 2019 

ASSETS 2018-19 2017-18 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Grants and contracts receivable 
Accounts receivables 
Prepaid expenses 

Contributions and other receivables 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

$ 218,065 
102,606 

4,673 
25,592 

50,000 
400,936 

$ 85,081 
170,018 

860 
50,309 

-
306,268 

PROPERTY, BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT, net 852,605 621,493 

OTHER ASSETS 264,949 214,501 

TOTAL ASSETS 1,518,490 1,142,262 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued payroll and benefits 
Deferred Revenue 
Current maturities of long-term debt 
Short Term Debt - Bonds, Notes Payable 

Other 
TOTAL CURRENT 

 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Deferred Rent 
All other long-term debt and notes payable, net current maturities TO AL LONG-TE  

LIABILITIES 

$ 549,924 
-
-

30,000 
-

300,027 
879,951 

172,157 

510,000 

682,157 

$ 485,988 
-
-
-
-
-

485,988 

-
585,000 

585,000 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,562,108 1,070,988 

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily restricted 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 

(43,618) 
-

(43,618) 

71,274 

-

71,274 



  
 

       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
NET ASSETS 1,518,490 1,142,262 

CK - Should be zero - -



    
  

    

    
   

   
   

   
   

       
   

     
     

     

 
 
 

 
   

   

  

     

   

 
 

       
    

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

Statement of Activities 

as of June 30, 2019 

Unrestricted 

2018-19 
Temporarily 
Restricted Total 

2017-18 

Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 
Public School District 

Resident Student Enrollment 
Students with disabilities 

Grants and Contracts 
State and local 
Federal - Title and IDEA 
Federal - Other 
Other 

NYC DoE Rental Assistance 

Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 

EXPENSES 
Program Services 

Regular Education 
Special Education 
Other Programs 

Total Program Services 
Management and general 
Fundraising 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FROM SCHOOL OPERATIONS 

SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 
Contributions 

Foundations 
Individuals 
Corporations 

Fundraising 
Interest income 
Miscellaneous income 

Net assets released from restriction 
TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 

$ 6,274,548 $ 
996,952 

209,621 
394,266 
25,776 

-
1,564,581 

-
9,465,744 

$ 6,072,263 $ 
2,189,106 

-
8,261,369 
1,476,915 

-
9,738,284 

(272,540) 

$ - $ 
101,766 

-
37,031 

43 
18,808 

-
157,648 

-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

$ 

$ 

$ 

6,274,548 
996,952 

209,621 
394,266 
25,776 

-
1,564,581 

-
9,465,744 

6,072,263 
2,189,106 

-
8,261,369 
1,476,915 

-
9,738,284 

(272,540) 

-
101,766 

-
37,031 

43 
18,808 

-
157,648 

$ 

$ 

$ 

5,853,291 
813,926 

169,517 
389,224 

-
-

1,217,747 

-
8,443,705 

5,156,622 
2,187,219 

-
7,343,841 
1,332,305 

-
8,676,146 

(232,441) 

-
8,965 

29,476 
28,386 

49 
12,000 

-
78,876 



   

       
   

    

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (114,892) - (114,892) (153,565) 

NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF YEAR 

PRIOR YEAR/PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 

71,274 

-
-
-

71,274 

-
224,839 

-

NET ASSETS END OF YEAR $ (43,618) $ - $ (43,618) $ 71,274 



    
   

    

    
       
       
 

     

 
   
 
 
 
 
 

     
 

 
 
 

         
     

    
   

     

    
       

     

       
       

       

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Cash Flows 

as of June 30, 2019 

2018-19 2017-18 

CASH FLOWS - OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Increase (decrease) in net assets 
Revenues from School Districts 
Accounts Receivable 
Due from School Districts 
Depreciation 
Grants Receivable 
Due from NYS 

$ (114,892) 
-

(3,813) 
-

221,132 
67,412 

-

$ (153,565) 
-

1,308 
-

196,022 
(16,864) 

-
Grant revenues 
Prepaid Expenses 
Accounts Payable 
Accrued Expenses 
Accrued Liabilities 

-
24,717 
63,936 

-
-

-
(27,984) 
80,945 

-
-

Contributions and fund-raising activities 
Miscellaneous sources 
Deferred Revenue 
Interest payments 
Deferred rent 
Due to NYC Department of Education 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

(50,000) 
(89,766) 

-
-

211,512 
300,027 

$ 630,265 $ 

-
(38,892) 

-
-

40,087 
(12,945) 
68,112 

CASH FLOWS - INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of equipment 
Other 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES $ 

(452,244) 
(37) 

(452,281) $ 

(442,484) 
(24,991) 

(467,475) 

CASH FLOWS - FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Principal payments on long-term debt 
Other 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES $ 

(1,205,000) 
1,160,000 

(45,000) $ 

(950,000) 
1,390,000 
440,000 

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
Cash at beginning of year 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 

$ 132,984 
85,081 

$ 218,065 

$ 

$ 

40,637 
44,444 
85,081 



    
   
    

   
 

 
                 

   
 

 
     

       

   
 

     
           
                 
   

   
   

 
    

   
 

 

 

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Functional Expenses 

as of June 30, 2019 

2018-19 

Personnel Services Costs 
Administrative Staff Personnel 
Instructional Personnel 
Non-Instructional Personnel 

No. of 
Positions 

14.00 
49.00 

-

Regular 
Education 

$ 
807,166 

2,202,927 
-

Program Services 
Special Other 

Education Education 
$ $ 

204,688 -
920,143 -

- -

$ 
Total 

1,011,854 
3,123,070 

-

Supporting Services 
Management 

Fund-raising and General 
$ $ $ 

596,019 
- 1,969 
- -

Total 

596,019 
1,969 

-
Total Salaries and Staff 63.00 

Fringe Benefits & Payroll Taxes 
Retirement 
Management Company Fees 
Legal Service 
Accounting / Audit Services 
Other Purchased / Professional / Consulting Services 
Building and Land Rent / Lease / Facility Finance Interes  
Repairs & Maintenance 
Insurance 
Utilities 
Supplies / Materials 
Equipment / Furnishings 
Staff Development 
Marketing / Recruitment 
Technology 
Food Service 
Student Services 
Office Expense 
Depreciation 

OTHER 

3,010,093 
628,785 
99,682 

-
-
-

24,336 
1,097,296 
115,825 
38,568 
57,979 

241,674 
20,773 
6,769 

22,315 
130,475 
21,841 

375,033 
15,835 

140,638 
24,346 

1,124,831 
234,968 
37,250 

-
-
-

9,094 
410,044 
43,282 
14,412 
21,666 
61,285 
6,892 
1,842 
6,632 

48,757 
5,539 

95,104 
5,917 

52,555 
9,036 

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

4,134,924 
863,753 
136,932 

-
-
-

33,430 
1,507,340 
159,107 
52,980 
79,645 

302,959 
27,665 
8,611 

28,947 
179,232 
27,380 

470,137 
21,752 

193,193 
33,382 

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

597,988 
124,915 
19,803 

-
45,760 
21,200 

209,297 
217,990 
23,010 
7,662 

11,518 
-

2,687 
208 

1,609 
38,838 

-
-

121,008 
27,939 
5,483 

597,988 
124,915 
19,803 

-
45,760 
21,200 

209,297 
217,990 
23,010 
7,662 

11,518 
-

2,687 
208 

1,609 
38,838 

-
-

121,008 
27,939 
5,483 

Total Expenses $ 6,072,263 $ 2,189,106 $ - $ 8,261,369 $ - $ 1,476,915 $ 1,476,915 



   

2017-18

$ 

$ 

Total 

1,607,873 
3,125,039 

-
4,732,912 
988,668 
156,735 

-
45,760 
21,200 

242,727 
1,725,330 
182,117 
60,642 
91,163 

302,959 
30,352 
8,819 

30,556 
218,070 
27,380 

470,137 
142,760 
221,132 
38,865 

9,738,284 

$ 

$ 

1,457,928 
2,679,045 

-
4,136,973 
1,167,692 
118,198 

-
63,801 
19,600 

212,424 
1,099,310 
124,348 
41,272 
47,976 

371,863 
23,537 
4,181 
2,720 

272,634 
11,681 

597,714 
150,356 
196,022 
13,844 

8,676,146 







      
          

Charter Funding Alphabetical By NYS School District 
* (Sum of Charter School Basic Tuition and Supplemental Basic Tuition) 
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ANNUAL BUDGET & QUARTERLY REPORT TEMPLATE 

Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School 

SCHOOL 
Name: Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School 

CONTACT INFORMATION 
Contact Name: Colin J. Greene 
Contact Title: Founder & Principal 
Contact Email: 
Contact Phone: 

REPORT PERIOD 
Current Academic Year: 2019-20 
Prior Academic Year: 2018-19 

Page 4 of 64 





      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      

  
     

 

PRIOR YEAR ANNUAL BUDGET 
2018-19 QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2  QUARTER 3 QUAR  

PRIMARY/OTHER DISTRICT NAME(S) 
Actual 

Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Original 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 
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8 9 10 11 12 
143 

ACTUAL QUARTERLY 
TOTAL DISTRICTS/ENROLLMENT 

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 
Revised Actual Actual Actual Actual 

0 0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 0 

ACTUAL ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER 
QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

TER 4 

D' Column(s) 
s for the 

TER 4 

Page 



   
     TER 4 

Revised 
Budgeted 
Enrollment 

ACTUAL ENROLLMENT BY QUARTER 
QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 

Actual 
Enrollment 
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ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
ALANCE SHEET 

2019-20 

Prior Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

2018-19 As of 9/30 As of 12/31 As of 3/31 As of 6/30 
ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Grants and contracts receivable 
Accounts receivables 
Prepaid Expenses 

Contributions and other receivables 

-
-
-
-
-

- - - -
- - - -
- - - -
- - - -
- - - -

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS - - - - -

-PROPERTY, BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT, net - - - -

-OTHER ASSETS - - - -

TOTAL ASSETS - - - - -

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued payroll and benefits 
Deferred Revenue 
Current maturities of long-term debt 
Short Term Debt - Bonds, Notes Payable 

Other 

-
-
-
-
-
-

- - - -
- - - -
- - - -
- - - -
- - - -
- - - -

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES - - - - -

-LONG-TERM DEBT and NOTES PAYABLE, net current maturities - - - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES - - - - -

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted 

Temporarily restricted 

-
-

- - - -
- - - -

TOTAL NET ASSETS - - - - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS - - - - -

Page 35 of 64 



























































  
    

    

  

         
     

     
     

       

          

Annual Report Requirement 
for SUNY Authorized Charter Schools 

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 

2019-20 

Administrative $0.00expenditures per pupil: 

Per NYS Statute Administrative expenditures per pupil: the sum of all 
general administration salaries and other general 
administration expenditures divided by the total 
number of enrolled students. Employee benefit 
costs or expenditures should not be reported here. 

*NOTE: THIS TAB ONLY NEEDS TO BE COMPLETED FOR Q4 
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James Spitzer

Atmosphere Academy Public Charter School







	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

Entry 8 BOT Table 
Created: 07/15/2019 • Last updated: 07/30/2019 

1. SUNY AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide information for VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide 

information for all VOTING and NON VOTING trustees. 
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1. Current Board Member Information (Enter info for each BOT member) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Trustee 
Name 
and 
Email 
Address 

Michael 
Lagas

Mervin 
Burton 

Jesse J. 
Greene 

Alan 
Dillon 

M. James 
Spitzer

Position 
on the 
Board 

Chair 

Treasurer 

Secretary 

Trustee/M
ember 

Trustee/M
ember 

1a. Are there more than 9 

members of the Board of 
Trustees? 

Committ 
ee 
Affiliation 
s 

Finance 
Governan 
ce 

Finance 
Governan 
ce 

Finance 
Governan 
ce 

Accounta 
bility 

Accounta 
bility
Governan 
ce 

No 

Voting
Member 
Per By
Laws 
(Y/N) 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Number 
of Terms 
Served 

2 

2 

2 

2 

1 

Start 
Date of 
Current 
Term 
(MM/DD/Y
YYY) 

10/16/20
17 

10/16/20
17 

10/16/20
17 

10/29/20
18 

04/23/20
18 

End Date 
of 
Current 
Term 
(MM/DD/Y
YYY) 

10/16/20
20 

10/16/20
20 

10/16/20
20 

10/29/20
21 

04/23/20
21 

Board 
Meetings
Attended 
During
2018 19 

12 

12 

12 

11 

10 
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2. INFORMATION ABOUT MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

1. SUNY-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide response relative to VOTING Trustees only. 
2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide a response 

relative to all trustees. 

a. Total Number of BOT Members on 
June 30, 2019 

b.Total Number of Members Added 
During 2018 19 

c. Total Number of Members who 
Departed during 2018 19 

d.Total Number of members in 2018 19, 
as set by in Bylaws, Resolution or
Minutes 

3. Number of Board meetings 

held during 2018-19 

4. Number of Board meetings 

scheduled for 2019-20 

Thank you. 

5 

0 

1 

6 

12 

12 
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Entry 10 Enrollment and Retention of Special 
Populations 
Created: 07/17/2019 • Last updated: 07/29/2019 

Instructions for Reporting Enrollment and Retention Strategies 

Describe the efforts the charter school has made in 2018 19 toward meeting targets to attract and retain 

enrollment of students with disabilities, English language learners/Multilingual learners, and students who 

are economically disadvantaged. In addition, describe the school’s plans for meeting or making progress 

toward meeting its enrollment and retention targets in 2019 20. 

ATMOSPHERE ACADEMY PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOLSection Heading 

1 / 4 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

Recruitment/Attraction Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Describe Recruitment Efforts in 2018 19 Describe Recruitment Plans in 2019 20 

To recruit economically disadvantaged
students, outreach was conducted in district 
public schools, public housing complexes,
and buses and subways. Advertising wasEconom done in targeted, specific zip codes, andically assistance with completion of the free andDisadva reduced price lunch applications was offered. ntaged 

In 2018 19, 91.7% of students were 
Economically Disadvantaged, exceeding the
target of 90.1% by 1.6 percentage points. 

To specifically target English Language
Learners, all advertising and promotional
materials were translated into languagesEnglish other than English as warranted by ourLangua location. All information sessions were ge offered in Spanish as well as English, andLearner specific organizations that serve highs/Multili concentrations of immigrant families werengual targeted in our outreach efforts. Learner 

s In 2018 19, 12.74% of students were English
Language Learners, below the target of
18.3% by 5.56 percentage points. 

To specifically target students with special
needs, the school clearly articulated and
highlighted the services and supports to be

Student provided to meet the needs of all diverse
s with learners. 
Disabilit 
ies In 2018 19, 20.2% of students were Students 

with Disabilities, falling short of the target of
21.9% by 1.7 percentage points. 

In the 2019 20 school year, the school will
continue to utilize the same efforts to recruit 
economically disadvantaged students,
focusing on high needs neighborhoods and
organizations that serve high numbers of low
income families. Recruitment efforts will once 
again include information sessions and
outreach throughout our target
neighborhoods. We will also continue to build
new relationships with community based
organizations and local schools in order to
maintain the percentage of economically
disadvantaged students enrolling in the
school. 

As the school continues to build on its 
successful programming to meet the needs
of English Language Learners, our efforts will
remain primarily the same. We will update
our recruitment materials and presentations
to further highlight the school’s success in
meeting the needs of ELL students and their
families. In addition, we may, if needed,
consider adding a preference for ELL
students in future lotteries. 

As this recruitment goal was met, the school
does not intend to make any changes to its
strategies to attract and enroll Students with
Disabilities. 

Retention Efforts Toward Meeting Targets 

Describe Retention Efforts in 2018 19 Describe Retention Plans in 2019 20 

To retain Economically Disadvantaged
students, the school strives to provide
opportunities for them to participate in
enriched, experiential learning at no cost to 

2 / 4 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

	 	

Econom families. The school also ensures that any
ically families experiencing hardship are supported
Disadva with resources and supports to the extent
ntaged possible. Parents are assisted in filling out

lunch forms and encouraged to keep the
school informed if school or health/hygiene
supplies are needed. 

Over the course of the year, the school
retained the vast majority of its English
Language Learners and expect that most will
return for the upcoming school year. We
believe that our high retention rates are due
to the extensive and effective programming

English we provide for ELL students as well as an
Langua inclusive school community that fosters
ge engagement for all families regardless of
Learner language barriers. These efforts include:
s/Multili • English as a New Language classes
ngual • Push in and pull out ELL services
Learner throughout the course of the day and across
s all content areas 

• An investment in a co teaching model that
targets and supports at risk students
• A full time ELL Specialist
• Ongoing parental communication,
translated if needed 
• Translation services at school events 

During the school year, the school retained
most of its special education students and
expects most of return for the 2019 20
school year. These high retention rates are
due to the numerous and effective 
interventions and programs provided, which
include: 
• Collaboration with the Committee on 
Special Education and the SPED collaborative
• A Special Education program that offers
SETSS, ICT and 12:1:1 classes 
• A successful modified self contained 
program
• An investment in a co teaching model that
targets and supports at risk students
• Intervention services that provideStudent struggling learners with individualizeds with academic remediation, coaching and tutoringDisabilit • Additional academic and social emotional ies support through an afterschool program
• Related services provided on site to meet
other needs of students, including
counseling, speech and language services.
• Student support services staff, including 

Due to a high level of retention for
Economically Disadvantaged students, the
school will implement the same strategies in
the coming year. 

Atmosphere Academy anticipates providing
the same level of service and support for
English Language Learners, leading to
another year of high retention rates. A part
time ELL specialist was hired to be added to
the staff in 2019 20, and other specific
program changes may be made based on
demonstrated student needs. 

The school anticipates providing the same
level of service and support for Students with
Disabilities leading to another year of high
retention rates. Any specific program
changes made will be based on
demonstrated student needs. 

3 / 4 



	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	

Learning Specialists aligned to their content
area expertise.
• Teaching Assistants to support highest
need students in and out of the classroom 
through classroom stations, co teaching and
class transition support
• Engaging and consistent programming for
and communication with parents via
workshops, meetings and conferences, and a
variety of communication streams. 
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Entry 11 Classroom Teacher and Administrator 

Attrition 
Last updated: 07/15/2019 

Report changes in teacher and administrator staffing. 

Instructions for completing the Classroom Teacher and Administrator Attrition Tables 

Charter schools must complete the tables titled 2018-2019 Classroom Teacher and 

Administrator Attrition to report changes in teacher and administrator staffing 

during the 2018-2019 school year. Please provide the full time equivalent (FTE) of 

staff on June 30, 2018; the FTE for any departed staff from July 1, 2018 through June 

30, 2019; the FTE for added staff from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019; and the 

FTE of staff added in newly created positions from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 

using the tables provided. 

1. Classroom Teacher Attrition Table 

FTE Classroom FTE Classroom FTE Classroom 
Teachers on 
6/30/18 

Teachers 
Departed 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

Teachers Filling
Vacant Positions 
7/1/18  6/30/19 

29 3 3 

2. Administrator Position Attrition Table 

FTE 
Administrative 
Positions on 
6/30/18 

13 

FTE 
Administrators 
Departed 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

1 

FTE 
Administrators 
Filling Vacant
Positions 7/1/18
 6/30/19 

0 

FTE Classroom FTE of 
Teachers Added Classroom 
in New Positions Teachers on 
7/1/18 6/30/19 6/3019 

0 29 

FTE FTE 
Administrators Administrative 
Added in New Positions on 
Positions 7/1/18
6/30/19 

6/30/19 

0 12 

1 / 2 



	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

		
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

	

3. Tell your school's story 

Charter schools may provide additional information in this section of the Annual 
Report about their respective teacher and administrator attrition rates as some 

teacher or administrator departures do not reflect advancement or movement within 

the charter school networks. Schools may provide additional detail to reflect a 

teacher’s advancement up the ladder to a leadership position within the network or 

an administrator’s movement to lead a new network charter school. 

(No response) 

4. Charter schools must ensure that all prospective employees receive clearance 

through the NYSED Office of School Personnel Review and Accountability (OSPRA) 

prior to employment. After an employee has been cleared, schools are required to 

maintain proof of such clearance in the file of each employee. For the safety of all 
students, charter schools must take immediate steps to terminate the employment of 

individuals who have been denied clearance. Once the employees have been 

terminated, the school must terminate the request for clearance in the TEACH 

system. 

Have all employees have been cleared through the NYSED TEACH system? 

Yes 

5. For perspective or current employees whose clearance has been denied, have you 

terminated their employment and removed them from the TEACH system? 

Not Applicable 

Thank you 
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